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Part I - Financial Information 
 

Item 1 - Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements included herein have been prepared by U.S. Geothermal Inc. (the “Company”), 
without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Certain 
information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles may have been condensed or omitted.  However, in the 
opinion of management, all adjustments (which include only normal recurring accruals) necessary to 
present fairly the financial position and results of operations for the periods presented have been made.  
These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, and with the 
audited financial statements and notes to the financial statements included in the Company’s annual report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012.  The results of operations for the three months ended 
June 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the transition period ending 
December 31, 2012.  As previously reported, on July 5, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors changed 
the Company’s fiscal year end from March 31 to December 31, beginning December 31, 2012. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

 (Stated in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 (Unaudited)   
 June 30, 2012  March 31, 2012 
      

ASSETS      
      

Current:     
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,257,757 $ 4,433,051 
 Restricted cash (note 3)  2,995,000 2,920,000 
 Trade accounts receivable  779,800 335,721 
 Other current assets  335,695 1,004,848 
  Total current assets  12,368,252 8,693,620 

   

Deposit on mineral rights purchase  200,000 200,000 
Investment in equity securities (note 4)  67,501 92,497 
Operating security deposit for Power Purchase Agreement  1,426,700  - 
Property, plant and equipment, net of  
 accumulated depreciation (note 5)  207,005,773  193,867,155 
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization (note 6)  16,137,386 16,177,596 

    Total assets $ 237,205,612  $ 219,030,868 
   
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
   

Current Liabilities:   
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 811,284 $ 1,637,294 
 Accounts payable, construction  6,880,121 28,564,315 
 Related party accounts payable  4,563 2,087 
 Current portion of capital lease obligations  54,764 14,183 
 Note payable, bridge loan (note 7)  7,500,000 7,500,000 
  Total current liabilities  15,250,732 37,717,879 
    

Long-term Liabilities:     
 Retention payable (note 16)  9,344,888 8,374,762 
 Convertible loan payable (note 11)  2,125,000 2,125,000 
 Long-term portion of capital lease obligations  92,015 - 
 Construction loans payable (note 10)  92,291,862 58,995,708 
  Total long-term liabilities  103,853,765 69,495,470 
    

   Total liabilities  119,104,497 107,213,349 
    

Commitments and Contingencies (note 16)  - - 
    

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
     

Capital stock (authorized: 250,000,000 common shares with a $0.001 
par value; issued and outstanding shares at June 30, 2012 and March 
31, 2012 were: 88,455,948 and 85,080,445; respectively)  88,456 85,080 

    

Additional paid-in capital  94,634,322 93,475,298 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (1,994) 23,002 
Accumulated deficit   (32,461,176) (31,530,306) 
  62,259,608 62,053,074 

Non-controlling interest (note 17)  55,841,507 49,764,445 
   Total stockholders’ equity  118,101,115 111,817,519 

    Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 237,205,612 $ 219,030,868 



 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(Stated in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 (Unaudited) 
 For the Three Months Ended June 30, 
 2012  2011* 
      

Plant Operations:      
 Plant Operating Revenues:      
  Energy sales $ 1,193,185  $ 1,274,790 
  Energy credit sales  87,764   123,185 
   Total plant operating revenues  1,280,949   1,397,975 
      

 Plant Operating Expenses:      
  Plant production expenses  874,588   1,027,565 
  Well repairs and maintenance  354,126   1,480,706 
   Total plant operating expenses  1,228,714   2,508,271 
      

Net Gain (Loss) from Plant Operations  52,235   (1,110,296)
      

Operating Expenses:      
 Corporate administration  270,553   267,964 
 Professional and management fees  263,538   1,268,829 
 Salaries and wages  313,017   599,036 
 Stock based compensation  162,975   534,898 
 Travel and promotion  48,321   37,386 
 Other plant expenses  702,780   785,985 
 Other operating expenses  119,998   34,744 
  Total operating expenses  1,881,182   3,528,842 
    

Loss from Operations  (1,828,947)   (4,639,138)
    

Other Income (Loss):    
 Other income (expense)  (68)   - 
 Interest income  1,858   5,783 
 Total other income   1,790   5,783 
    

Net Loss Before Accumulated Change  (1,827,157)   (4,633,355)
     

Accumulated effect on prior period application of capitalization 
policy (note 19)  -   262,305 

      

Net Loss  (1,827,157)   (4,371,050)
    

 Net loss attributable to the non-controlling interest  896,287   2,030,026 
      

Net Loss Attributable to U.S. Geothermal Inc.  (930,870)   (2,341,024)
    

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):    
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment in equity securities  (24,996)   (67,789)

   

Comprehensive Loss Attributable to  
 U.S. Geothermal Inc. $ (955,866)  $ (2,408,813)

    
Basic And Diluted Net Loss Per Share Attributable to U.S. 

Geothermal Inc. $ (0.01)  $ (0.03) 
    
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding for Basic and 

Diluted Calculations 
 

86,261,974 
  

84,835,093 
  

 * - as reclassified to reflect the change in accounting methods (see note 18 for details).  



 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Stated in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 (Unaudited) 

 For the Three Months Ended June 30, 

 2012  2011* 
    

Operating Activities:    
Net loss $ (1,827,157)  $ (4,371,050) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating 

activities:   
 Depreciation and amortization  710,457  801,381 
 Stock based compensation  162,975  534,898 
Net changes in:     
 Accounts receivable  (444,079)  (597,354) 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (98,149)  1,773,930 
 Prepaid expenses and other  669,153  (34,988) 

  Total cash used by operating activities (826,800)  (1,893,183) 
      

Investing Activities:      
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (1,797,164)   (9,637,638) 
 Cash restricted by regulating entities   (75,000)  (100,000) 
 Cash received from consolidation of subsidiary  -  592,330 
 Distributions to non-controlling interest  (32,436)  (30,416) 
 PPA Operating Security Deposit  (1,426,700)  - 

  Total cash used by investing activities  (3,331,300)  (9,175,724) 
      

Financing Activities:      
 Issuance of share capital, net of share issue costs  999,425  78,276 
 Proceeds received from non-controlling interest  7,005,785   13,000,000 
 Principal payments on capital lease  (22,404)  (3,094) 

 Total cash provided by financing activities  7,982,806   13,075,182 
   

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,824,706 2,006,275 
      

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 4,433,051 8,098,905 
  

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 8,257,757  $ 10,105,180 
      

Supplemental Disclosures:      

Non-cash investing and financing activities:     
 Purchase of property and equipment on account $ 11,856,701  $ 4,070,160 
 Construction and development paid directly with construction 

loans  34,266,280   - 
 Capitalized accrued interest  925,093   351,166 
 Net assets and liabilities received from consolidation of 

subsidiary  -   45,386,103 
      

Other Items:      
 Interest paid   925   2,354 

 
 * - as reclassified to reflect the change in accounting methods (see note 18 for details).



U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 and the Year Ended March 31, 2012 
 (Stated in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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Number of 
Shares

 
 Common 

Shares

 
 
 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital  

Accumulated 
Deficit  

Accumulated 
Comprehensive 

Income
 
 

Non- 
controlling 

Interest
 
 Totals

                   

Balance at March 31, 2011  84,761,956 $ 84,762  $  90,283,987  $  (25,308,177)  $  108,990  $  640,967  $  65,810,529 
                   
Equity interest from consolidation of non-

controlling interest RREI (note 18)  -  -    -    -    -    28,009,782    28,009,782 
Equity contributions and note conversion by 

non-controlling interest Oregon Holdings 
USG LLC (note 17)  -  -    -    -    -    25,794,216    25,794,216 

Distributions to non-controlling interest entity  -  -    -    -    -    (113,365)    (113,365)
Stock issued from the exercise of stock options  76,500  76    83,215    -    -                       -    83,291 
Stock issued under At Market Issuance Sales 

Agreement  (note 12)   241,989  242    125,891    -    -    -    126,133 
Stock compensation  -  -    2,733,627    -    -    -    2,733,627 
Vesting of restricted shares (note 13)  -  -    248,578    -    -    -    248,578 
Unrealized loss on investment   -  -    -       (85,988)    -    (85,988)
Net loss  -  -    -    (6,222,129)    -    (4,567,155)    (10,789,284)

Balance at March 31, 2012  85,080,445  85,080    93,475,298    (31,530,306)    23,002    49,764,445    111,817,519 

                   
Stock issued under At Market Issuance Sales 

Agreement  (note 12)  3,375,503  3,376    996,049    -    -    -    999,425 
Equity contributions and note conversion by 

non-controlling interest Oregon USG 
Holdings LLC (note 17)                      -  -                        -                        -                        -    7,005,785    7,005,785 

Distributions to non-controlling interest entity  -  -    -    -    -    (32,436)    (32,436)
Stock compensation  -  -    162,975    -    -    -    162,975 
Unrealized loss on investment (unaudited)  -  -    -    -    (24,996)    -    (24,996)
Net loss (unaudited)  -  -    -    (930,870)    -    (896,287)    (1,827,157)

Balance at June 30, 2012 (unaudited)  88,455,948 $ 88,456  $  94,634,322  $  (32,461,176)  $  (1,994)  $  55,841,507  $  118,101,115 
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U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Unaudited) 

June 30, 2012 
 (Stated in U.S. Dollars) 

 
 
NOTE  1 - ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 
When U.S. Cobalt Inc. (“GTH” or the “Company”) completed a reverse take-over on December 19, 2003, the 
former stockholders of U.S. Geothermal Inc.  (“GEO – Idaho”) a company incorporated on February 26, 2002 
in the State of Idaho, U.S.A. acquired control of GTH.  In connection with the transaction, U.S. Cobalt Inc. 
changed its name to U.S. Geothermal Inc. and consolidated its common stock on a one new to five old basis.  
All references to common shares in these financial statements have been restated to reflect the roll-back of 
common stock. The Company constructs and manages power plants that utilize geothermal resources to 
produce energy.  The Company’s operations have been, primarily, focused in the Western United States of 
America. 

 
All references to “dollars” or “$” are to United States dollars and all references to CDN are to Canadian 
dollars. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries have been 
prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  
Such rules and regulations allow the omission of certain information and footnote disclosures normally 
included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States of America, so long as such omissions do not render the financial statements misleading.  
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. 

 
In the opinion of management, these financial statements reflect all adjustments that are necessary for a fair 
statement of the results for the periods presented.  All adjustments were of a normal recurring nature.  These 
interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements of the 
Company included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 
The Company consolidates subsidiaries that it controls (more-than-50% owned) and entities over which 
control is achieved through means other than voting rights.  These consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, as well as three controlling interests.  The 
accounts of the following companies are consolidated in these financial statements: 
 

i) U.S. Geothermal Inc. (incorporated in the State of Delaware); 
ii) U.S. Geothermal Inc. (incorporated in the State of Idaho); 
iii) Gerlach Geothermal LLC (organized in the State of Delaware); 
iv) U.S. Geothermal Services, LLC (organized in the State of Delaware); 
v) USG Nevada LLC (organized in the State of Delaware); 
vi) Raft River Energy I LLC (organized in the State of Delaware);  
vii) USG Gerlach LLC (organized in the State of Delaware);  
viii) USG Oregon LLC (organized in the State of Delaware) 
ix) Oregon USG Holdings, LLC (organized in the State of Delaware);  
x) Nevada USG Holdings, LLC (organized in the State of Delaware);  
xi) Nevada North USG Holdings, LLC (organized in the State of Delaware) 
xii) USG Nevada North, LLC (organized in the State of Delaware); and  
xiii) U.S. Geothermal Guatemala, S.A. (organized in Guatemala) 
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All intercompany transactions are eliminated upon consolidation. 
 
Raft River Energy I LLC (“RREI”), a 100% owned subsidiary prior to July 1, 2006, was recorded from July 1, 
2006 through March 31, 2011 under the equity method after the addition of a controlling partner for additional 
project financing.  The Company has determined that effective April 1, 2011, RREI should be fully 
consolidated and a non-controlling interest recognized for the remaining investment value of RREI’s other 
member.  The change was warranted due to circumstances and conditions that affected the control of the entity 
(See Notes 17 and 18 for details). 
 
In cases where the Company owns a majority interest in an entity but does not own 100% of the interest in the 
entity, it recognizes a non-controlling interest attributed to the interest controlled by outside third parties.  The 
Company will recognize 100% of the assets and liabilities of the entity, and disclose the non-controlling 
interest.  The statements of operations will consolidate the subsidiary’s full operations, and will separately 
disclose the elimination of the non-controlling interest’s allocation of profits and losses. 
 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The following are summarized accounting policies considered to be significant by the Company’s 
management: 
 
Accounting Method 
 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) 
and have been consistently applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities known to exist as of the date the consolidated 
financial statements are published, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Uncertainties with respect to such estimates and assumptions are inherent in the preparation of the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements; accordingly, it is possible that the actual results could differ 
from these estimates and assumptions and could have a material effect on the reported amounts of the 
Company’s consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 
The Company considers all unrestricted cash, short-term deposits, and other investments with original 
maturities of no more than ninety days when acquired to be cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of 
the statement of cash flows.  Discussion regarding restricted cash is included in Note 3.   
 
Trade Accounts Receivable Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 
Management estimates the amount of trade accounts receivable that may not be collectible and records an 
allowance for doubtful accounts, accordingly.  The allowance is an estimate based upon aging of receivable 
balances, historical collection experience, and the periodic credit evaluations of our customers’ financial 
condition.  Receivable balances are written off when we determine that the balance is uncollectible.  As of 
June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, there were no balances that were over 90 days past due and no balance 
in allowance for doubtful accounts was recognized. 
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Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, consisted of commercial bank 
deposits, money market accounts, and petty cash.  Cash deposits are held in commercial banks in Boise, 
Idaho and Portland, Oregon.  Deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(“FDIC”) up to $250,000 per legal entity through December 31, 2013.  At June 30, 2012, the Company’s 
total cash balance, excluding money market funds, was $10,920,368, and bank deposits amounted to 
$11,033,735.  The difference was due to outstanding checks and deposits.  Of the bank deposits, 
$10,080,016 was not covered by or was in excess of FDIC insurance guaranteed limits.  At fiscal year end, 
the Company’s money market funds invested in government backed securities totaled $328,689 and were 
not subject to deposit insurance. 
 
Equity Securities 
 
The Company determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at the time of purchase and 
reevaluates this designation as of each balance sheet date.  The Company classifies these securities as either 
held-to-maturity, trading, or available-for-sale. All marketable securities and restricted investments were 
classified as available-for-sale securities.  The Company classifies its investments as “available for sale” 
because it does not intend to actively buy and sell for short-term profits.  The Company's investments are 
subject to market risk, primarily interest rate and credit risk. The fair value of investments is determined 
using observable or quoted market prices for those securities.  
 
Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses included as a 
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).  Realized gains and losses, declines in value 
judged to be other than temporary and interest on available-for-sale securities are included in net income. 
The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment, including assets under capital lease, are recorded at historical cost.  Costs of 
acquisition of geothermal properties are capitalized in the period of acquisition.  Major improvements that 
significantly increase the useful lives and/or capabilities of the assets are capitalized.  A primary factor in 
determining whether to capitalize construction type costs is the stage of the potential project’s development.  
Once a project is determined to be commercially viable, all costs directly associated with the development 
and construction of the project are capitalized. Until that time, all development costs are expensed. A 
commercially viable project will have, among other factors, a reservoir discovery well or other significant 
geothermal surface anomaly, a power transmission path that is identified and available, and an electricity 
off-taker identified.  A valid reservoir discovery is generally defined when a test well has been substantially 
completed that indicates the presence of a geothermal reservoir that has a high probability of possessing the 
necessary temperatures, permeability, and flow rates.  After a valid discovery has been made, the project 
enters the development stage.  Generally, all costs incurred during the development stage are capitalized 
and tracked on an individual project basis.  If a geothermal project is abandoned, the associated costs that 
have been capitalized are charged to expense in the year of abandonment.  Expenditures for repairs and 
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  Interest costs incurred during the construction period of 
defined major projects from debt that is specifically incurred for those projects are capitalized.   
 
Direct labor costs, incurred for specific major projects expected to have long-term benefits will be 
capitalized.  Direct labor costs subject to capitalization include employee salaries, as well as, related payroll 
taxes and benefits. With respect to the allocation of salaries to projects, salaries are allocated based on the 
percentage of hours that our key managers, engineers and scientists work on each project and are invoiced 
to the project each month. These individuals track their time worked at each project. Major projects are, 
generally, defined as projects expected to exceed $100,000.  Direct labor includes all of the time incurred 
by employees directly involved with construction and development activities.  General and/or indirect 
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management time and time spent evaluating the feasibility of potential projects are expensed when incurred.  
Employee training time is expensed when incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.  Where 
appropriate, terms of property rights and revenue contracts can influence the determination of estimated 
useful lives.  Estimated useful lives by major asset categories are summarized as follows: 
 

Asset Categories  
Estimated Useful 

Lives in Years 
   
Furniture, vehicle and other equipment   3 to 5 
Power plant, buildings and improvements   3 to 30 
Wells   30 
Well pumps and components    5 to 15 
Pipelines   30 
Transmission lines   30 

 
Intangible Assets  
 
All costs directly associated with the acquisition of geothermal and surface water rights are capitalized as 
intangible assets.  These costs are amortized over their estimated utilization period.  There are several 
factors that influence the estimated utilization periods as well as underlying fair value that include, but are 
not limited to, the following: 

- contractual expiration terms of the right, 
- contractual terms of an associated revenue contract (i.e., PPA’s), 
- compliance with utilization and other requirements, and 
- hierarchy of other right holders who share the same resource. 

 
Currently, amortization expense is being calculated on a straight-line basis over an estimated utilization 
period of 30 years for assets placed in service.  If an intangible water or geothermal right is forfeited or 
otherwise lost, the remaining unamortized costs are expensed in the period of forfeiture.  An impaired right 
is reduced to its estimated fair market value in the year the impairment is realized.  Costs incurred that 
extend the term of an intangible right are capitalized and amortized over the new estimated period of 
utilization. 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Company evaluates its long-term assets annually for impairment and when circumstances/events occur 
that may impact the fair value of the assets.  An impairment loss would be recognized if the carrying 
amount of a capitalized asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value.  The most recent assessment was 
performed based upon financial conditions and assumptions as of June 30, 2012.  Management believes that 
there have not been any circumstances that have warranted the recognition of losses due to the impairment 
of long-lived assets. 
 
Stock Options Granted to Employees and Non-employees 
 
The Company follows financial accounting standards that require the measurement of the value of employee 
services received in exchange for an award of equity instrument based on the grant-date fair value of the 
award.  For employees, directors and officers, the fair value of the awards are expensed over the vesting 
period.  The current vesting period for all options is eighteen months. 
 
Non-employee stock-based compensation is granted at the Board of Director’s discretion to reward select 
consultants for exceptional performance.  Prior to issuance of the awards, the Company was not under any 



 

 
-14- 

 
 

obligation to issue the stock options.  Subsequent to the award, the recipient was not obligated to perform 
any services.  Therefore, the fair value of these options was expensed on the grant date, which was also the 
measurement date. 
 
Under the fair value recognition provisions, share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date 
based on the value of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Determining the fair 
value of share-based awards at the grant date requires judgment.  In addition, judgment is also required in 
estimating the amount of share-based awards that are expected to be forfeited.  If actual results differ 
significantly from these estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be 
materially impacted. 
 
The Company has adopted a standard that states that if certain conditions are present surrounding the 
issuance of equity instruments as share based compensation, then circumstances may warrant the 
recognition of a liability for financial reporting purposes.  One such condition is present when the Company 
issued stock options denominated in a foreign currency (Canadian dollars) to employees.  Authors of the 
standard have reasoned that when a condition is present that creates a financial risk to the recipient in 
addition to normal market risks (i.e., foreign currency translation risk), then the instrument takes on the 
characteristics of a liability, rather than an equity item.  As the underlying stock options are exercised or are 
forfeited, then the stock based compensation liability will be reduced.  As of March 31, 2012, the 
Company’s financial statements no longer reflect a stock compensation liability in the consolidated balance 
sheet.  As the value of the options change over the vesting periods, these changes will ultimately be 
reflected in the amount of expense charged to operations. 
 
Stock Based Compensation Granted to Employees 
 
The Company recognizes the value of common stock granted to employees and directors over the periods in 
which the services are received.  The value of those services is based upon the estimated fair value of the 
common stock to be awarded.  Estimated fair value is adjusted each reporting period.  At the end of each 
vesting period, estimated fair value is adjusted to fair market value.  The adjustment is reflected in the 
reporting period in which the vesting occurs.   
 
Earnings (Losses) Per Share 
 
The Company follows financial accounting standards, which provides for calculation of "basic" and 
"diluted" earnings (losses) per share.  Basic earnings per share includes no dilution and is computed by 
dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding 
for the period.  Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution of securities that could share in the 
earnings of an entity similar to fully diluted earnings per share.  Although there were common stock 
equivalents outstanding at June 30, 2012 and 2011, they were not included in the calculation of earnings per 
share because their inclusion would have been considered anti-dilutive.  Total common stock equivalents on 
a fully diluted basis at June 30, 2012 and 2011 were 101,400,536 and 102,665,193; respectively. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade account and other 
receivables, refundable tax credits, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is 
management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising 
from these financial instruments. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying 
values, unless otherwise noted. 
 
Refundable tax credit is comprised of Goods and Services Tax/Harmonized Sales Tax (“GST/HST”) which is 
refundable from the Government of Canada and is included in other current assets. 
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The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. dollar.  Monetary items are converted into U.S. dollars at the 
rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.  Resulting gains and losses are generally included in determining net 
income for the period in which exchange rates change.   
 
Revenue 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Energy Sales 
The energy sales revenue is recognized when the power is produced and delivered to the customer under the 
terms defined in the Power Purchase Agreements. 
 
Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) 
Revenues from RECs sales are recognized when the Company has met the terms of certain energy sales 
agreements with a financially capable buyer and has met the applicable governing regulations.  The 
Company earns one REC for each megawatt hour produced from the geothermal power plant.   
 
At Raft River Energy I LLC, each REC is certified by Western Electric Coordinating Council and sold 
under a REC Purchase and Sales Agreement to Holy Cross Energy.  At San Emidio, the majority of the 
RECs are owned by our customer and are bundled with energy sales.  The remaining minor RECs from the 
San Emidio plant associated with internal station usage only are certified by the State of Nevada Public 
Utilities Commission and sold to Barrick Goldstrike Mines Inc. under a stand-alone purchase order. 
 
Revenue Source 
All of the Company’s operating revenues (energy sales and energy credit sales) originate from energy 
production from its interests in geothermal power plants located in the states of Idaho and Nevada.   
 
 
Reclassification  
Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current 
period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on reported losses, total assets, or stockholders’ 
equity as previously reported. 
 

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Management has considered all recent accounting pronouncements.  Only the following pronouncement was 
deemed applicable to our financial statements. 
 
Presentation of Comprehensive Income 
In June 2011, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 
220), Presentation of Comprehensive Income (“Update 2011-05”).  Update 2011-05 improves the 
comparability and consistency of financial reporting of items reported in other comprehensive income 
between U.S. GAAP and IFRS.  Update 2011-05 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within 
those years, beginning after December 15, 2011, and should be applied retrospectively.  In December 2011, 
FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-12, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), Deferral of 
the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05, (“Update 2011-12”).  Update 
2011-12 defers the effective date of certain reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other 
comprehensive income required by Update 2011-05.  Update 2011-12 is effective for fiscal years and 
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011.  Management is still evaluating the 
impact of these updates, and expects that they may impact the presentation of the statements of financial 
position, statements of operations, and statements of changes in shareholders equity. 
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NOTE 3 – RESTRICTED CASH 
 
The Company maintains cash balances that are restricted under Letter of Credit covenants for State and 
Federal well bonding requirements.  These bonds renew on an annual basis.  Restricted cash balances and 
explanations of the nature of the restrictions are summarized as follows: 

 
  June 30,  March 31, 

State Agency  2012  2012 
       

Idaho Department of Water Resources, Geothermal Well Bond  $  260,000  $  260,000 
Bureau of Land Management, Geothermal Lease Bond – 

Gerlach Geothermal    10,000    10,000 
State of Nevada Division of Minerals, Statewide Drilling Bond    50,000    50,000 
Bureau of Land Management, Geothermal Lease Bonds    150,000    150,000 
Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries, Mineral 

Land and Reclamation Program    400,000    325,000 
U.S. Department of Energy – Construction Loan Bond   2,125,000   2,125,000 

 
 

$ 2,995,000  $ 2,920,000 
 
The well bonding requirements ensure that the Company has sufficient financial resources to construct, 
operate and maintain geothermal wells while safeguarding subsurface, surface and atmospheric resources 
from unreasonable degradation, and to protect ground water aquifers and surface water sources from 
contamination.  Other future costs of environmental remediation cannot be reasonably estimated and have not 
been recorded.  The construction bond is required by the Loan Guarantee Agreement with the Department 
of Energy at Neal Hot Springs and will convert to a plant reserve fund upon completion of the plant facility. 
 
 
NOTE 4 – INVESTMENT IN EQUITY SECURITIES  
 
Investments in equity securities (150,000 shares of Alterra Power Corp, a publicly traded renewable energy 
company) activities consisted of the following: 
 

  Amount 
Available-for-sale equity securities:    
  Cost basis  $  88,515 
  Net unrealized gains    27,107 
  Foreign exchange losses    (23,125) 
 Fair value at March 31, 2012    92,497 
    

  Net unrealized losses    (24,261) 
  Foreign exchange losses    (735) 

 Fair value at June 30, 2012  $  67,501 
 
 
NOTE 5 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
During the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company continued the development of the Neal Hot 
Springs, Oregon and San Emidio, Nevada projects.  At Neal Hot Springs, construction of the power plant, 
facility buildings, cooling towers and transmission lines amounted to approximately $10.2 million during 
the current quarter.  The cooling towers and other buildings are substantially complete.  The current quarter 
well drilling activities at Neal Hot Springs amounted to over $1.5 million.  During the current quarter, San 
Emidio construction costs were incurred that amounted to over $2.0 million for construction of the new 
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power plant.  The plant is expected to reach final completion in the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 
2012.   
 
Effective April 1, 2011, the Company changed consolidation methods for its major subsidiary Raft River 
Energy I LLC (“RREI”).  As a result of the change, the Company now reports all RREI property and 
equipment on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and reflect a non-controlling interest.  As of 
April 1, 2011, RREI’s property and equipment, net of accumulated deprecation amounted to $45,435,397 
($51,939,812 total cost, less $6,504,415 accumulated depreciation). 
 
Property, plant and equipment, at cost, are summarized as follows: 

 
 June 30,   March 31, 
 2012  2012 
      

Land $ 652,507  $ 652,507 
Power production plant*  36,072,569  36,072,569 
Wells  21,675,989  21,675,989 
Furniture and equipment  1,339,605  1,140,086 
  59,740,670   59,541,151 

 Less: accumulated depreciation*  (12,331,371) (11,661,124)
  47,409,299   47,880,027 
      

Construction in progress  159,596,474   145,987,128 

 $ 207,005,773  $ 193,867,155 
 

*  The old power production plant in San Emidio, Nevada was decommissioned 
December 12, 2011, to facilitate the change to the newly constructed power plant.  The 
old power plant is considered to be an inactive asset; however, remains as a 
recognized asset since it has not been disassembled and could be restarted if the new 
plant is not successful.  At June 30, 2012, the net book value of the inactive power plant 
was $332,969 ($2,275,474 cost, less $1,942,505 accumulated depreciation). 

 
For the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, the Company capitalized interest costs as a component of 
the Neal Hot Springs and San Emidio projects as follows:   
 

 For the Three Months Ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
      

Total interest expense incurred $ 926,018  $ 256,935 
Capitalized interest    925,093  254,581 

 
Depreciation expense charged to operations for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 amounted to 
$670,247 and $222,133; respectively. 
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Changes in Construction in Progress for the periods ended June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, are summarized 
as follows: 
 

 For the Three 
Months Ended 
June 30, 2012  

For the Year 
Ended March 

31, 2012 
      

Beginning balances $ 145,987,128  $ 35,301,709 
 Current development construction   14,511,793  113,266,751 
 Grant reimbursements  (902,447)  (2,117,423)
 Transfers into production  -  - 
 Write-off exploration wells*  -  (463,909)

Ending balances $ 159,596,474 $ 145,987,128 
 

* During the quarter ended December 31, 2011, the costs related to test well construction 
at Gerlach, Nevada were written off.  These costs were considered to be exploratory in 
nature with an uncertain future value.  

 
Construction in Progress, at cost, consisted of the following projects/assets by location at June 30, 2012 and 
March 31, 2012 are as follows: 
 

 June 30,  March 31, 
 2012  2012 
      

Raft River, Idaho:       
 Unit II, power plant, substation and transmission 

lines $ 742,405 $ 742,404 
 Unit II, well construction  2,099,822  2,099,136 
  2,842,227  2,841,540 
San Emidio, Nevada:      
 Power plant (Re-power project)  33,778,534   31,770,066 
 Interconnection studies for transmission line  235,013   235,013 
 Well construction  4,460,892   4,604,983 
  38,474,439  36,610,062 
Neal Hot Springs, Oregon:      
 Wells  36,742,204   35,266,897 
 Buildings and site preparation  78,187,747   67,967,633 
 Transmission lines and substation  3,349,857   3,300,996 
  118,279,808   106,535,526 
Gerlach, Nevada:      
 Well construction  -   - 

  $ 159,596,474  $ 145,987,128 
 
 
NOTE 6 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
In February 2012, water rights on 2,917 acres of leased property in the Granite Creek area located in the State 
of Nevada were relinquished and removed from intangible assets at their carrying amounts that totaled 
$548,701.  The relinquishment was considered to be a loss that was recognized in the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2012.   
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Intangible assets, at cost, are summarized by project location as follows: 
 

 June 30,  March 31, 
 2012  2012 
      

In operation:     
 San Emidio, Nevada:      
  Geothermal water and mineral rights* $ 4,825,220  $ 4,825,220 
  Less: accumulated amortization*  (670,169) (629,959)
  4,155,051   4,195,261 
 
      

Inactive:      
 Raft River, Idaho:      
  Surface water rights  849,862   849,862 
  Geothermal water and mineral rights  2,203,330   2,203,330 
       

 Granite Creek, Nevada      
  Surface water rights  451,299   451,299 
      

 Neal Hot Springs, Oregon:      
  Geothermal water and mineral rights  225,337   225,337 
      

 Guatemala City, Guatemala:      
  Geothermal water and mineral rights  625,000   625,000 
      

 Gerlach, Nevada:      
  Geothermal water and mineral rights  997,000   997,000 
      

 San Emidio, Nevada:      
  Surface water rights  3,620,000   3,620,000 
  Geothermal water and mineral rights*  3,440,580   3,440,580 
  Less: accumulated amortization*  (430,073)   (430,073)
  11,982,335   11,982,335 

 $ 16,137,386  $ 16,177,596 
 

*  In January 2012, geothermal water rights located on 2,398 acres in San Emidio in the State 
of Nevada were segregated from the San Emidio plant operations to be utilized for a future 
project.  The net value of the transferred rights was $3,010,507 ($3,440,580 cost, less 
$430,073 amortization).  Amortization of these costs is no longer being charged to 
operations. 

 
Estimated aggregate amortization expense for the next five fiscal years is as follows: 
 

 Projected 
Amounts 

Years ending June 30,   
 2013 $ 160,841 
 2014  160,841 
 2015  160,841 
 2016  160,841 
 2017  160,841 

 $ 804,205 
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Amortization expense charged to operations for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 amounted to 
$40,210 and $68,881, respectively. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – BRIDGE LOAN NOTE PAYABLE 
 
On November 9, 2011, USG Nevada LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, signed a bridge loan 
agreement with Ares Capital Corporation.  The bridge loan provides for the funding necessary for the 
retirement of the San Emidio plant construction loan held by Benham Constructors LLC.  The loan principal 
cannot exceed $9 million.  Interest rate is equal to the LIBOR rate for three month interest periods plus 
applicable margin.  The loan has monetized the Section 1603 ITC cash grant associated with planned 
commercial operation of the San Emidio power plant.  An application has been submitted to the United States 
Department of Treasury for an estimated $11.7 million ITC cash grant.  The cash grant proceeds will be used 
to repay the bridge loan.  At June 30, 2012, the loan balance totaled $7,500,000, and the entire balance was 
considered to be short term. 
 
 
NOTE 8 – PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 
 
Income taxes are provided based upon the liability method.  Under this approach, deferred income taxes are 
recorded to reflect the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax basis of assets and 
liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at each year-end.  A valuation allowance is recorded against 
deferred tax assets if management does not believe the Company has met the “more likely than not” 
standard imposed by accounting standards to allow recognition of such an asset. 
 
At June 30, 2012, the Company had net deferred tax assets calculated at an expected rate, noted in the table 
below, of approximately $9,818,000 (March 31, 2012 - $9,498,000).  As management of the Company 
cannot determine that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefit of the net deferred 
tax asset, a valuation allowance equal to the net deferred tax asset was recorded at June 30, 2012 and March 
31, 2012. 
 
The significant components of the net deferred tax asset calculated with the estimated effective income tax 
rate at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012 were as follows: 
  

  June 30,  March 31, 
  2012  2012 
Deferred tax assets*:     
 Net operating loss carry forward   $ 8,962,000   $ 8,728,000 
 Stock based compensation    1,361,000    1,302,000 
     
Deferred tax liabilities*:     
 Depreciation and amortization    (505,000)    (532,000)

Net deferred income tax asset     9,818,000     9,498,000 
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance    (9,818,000)    (9,498,000)

Net deferred tax asset   $ -   $ - 

 * - significant components of deferred assets and liabilities are considered to be long-term.  
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The Company’s estimated effective income tax rate is summarized as follows: 
 

 For the Years Ended March 31, 
 2012  2011 
    

U.S. Federal statutory rate 34.0%  34.0% 
Average State income tax, net of federal tax effect 4.2  4.2 
Production tax credits (2.0)  (2.0) 

 Net effective tax rate 36.2%  36.2% 
 
At June 30, 2012, the Company had net income tax operating loss carry forwards of approximately 
$27,120,000 ($25,972,000 in March 31, 2012), which expire in the years 2023 through 2032.  The change in 
the allowance account from March 31, 2012 to June 30, 2012 was $416,000. 
 
At March 31, 2012, Raft River Energy I LLC has a book-to-tax difference of $30.7 million due to the 
acceleration of intangible drilling costs and depreciation. By contract, 99% percent of this book-to-tax 
difference has been allocated to the non-controlling interest and would not be available to the consolidated 
group to offset future tax liabilities. 
 
Although Management believes that its estimates are reasonable, no assurance can be given that the final 
tax outcome of these matters will not be different than that which is reflected in our tax provisions. 
Ultimately, the actual tax benefits to be realized will be based upon future taxable earnings levels, which are 
very difficult to predict. 
 
Accounting for Income Tax Uncertainties and Related Matters 
 
The Company may be assessed penalties and interest related to the underpayment of income taxes.  Such 
assessments would be treated as a provision of income tax expense on the financial statements.  For the years 
ended March 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, no income tax expense has been realized as a result of operations and 
no income tax penalties and interest have been accrued related to uncertain tax positions.  The Company files 
income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in the States of Idaho and Oregon.  These filings are 
subject to a three year statute of limitations.  The Company’s evaluation of income tax positions included the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, could be subject to agency examinations as of March 31, 
2012.  No filings are currently under examination.  No adjustments have been made to reduce the estimated 
income tax benefit at fiscal year end.  Any valuations relating to these income tax provisions will comply with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
 
NOTE 9 - CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS 

 
Effective November 10, 2008, the Company entered into a capital lease obligation for the purchase of a 
forklift that is payable in monthly payments of $1,193 including interest to Wells Fargo Equipment, Inc.  
The contract includes a purchase option of $5,345 at the end of the lease term scheduled for November 
2012.  Effective May 10, 2012, the Company entered into two capital lease obligations for the purchase of a 
boom lift and a telehandler from Caterpillar Financial Services Corporation.  The Boom Lift contract is 
payable in 36 monthly payments of $1,094 that began on June 11, 2012 and has an effective annual interest 
rate of 5.985%.  The Telehandler contract is payable in 36 monthly payments of $3,155 that began on June 
11, 2012 and has an effective annual interest rate of 6.14%.  Both contracts with Caterpillar Financial 
Services Corporation have bargain purchase options at the end of the contracts scheduled for May 2015.    
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The scheduled future lease payments for the three contracts are presented as follows: 
 

Years ending June 30, 
 Capital Leases 

Amounts 
    

 2013  $ 62,109 
 2014   50,997 
 2015   46,748 

Total future payments   159,854 

Less: imputed interest portion   (13,075) 
  $ 146,779 

 
At June 30, 2012, the net book value of the equipment under capital lease amounted to $151,076 ($208,450, 
less $57,374 accumulated amortization).   
 
 
NOTE 10 – CONSTRUCTION NOTES PAYABLE 

 
U.S. Department of Energy 
On August 31, 2011, USG Oregon LLC (“USG Oregon”), a subsidiary of the Company, completed the first 
funding drawdown associated with the U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE”) $96.8 million loan guarantee 
(the “Loan Guarantee”) to construct its planned 22-megawatt-net power plant at Neal Hot Springs in 
Eastern Oregon (the “Project”).  The U.S. Treasury’s Federal Financing Bank, as lender for the Project, 
issues payments direct to vendors.  Future advances covered by the Loan Guarantee will carry interest at a 
rate of 0.375% per annum over the U.S. Treasury bill rate of comparable maturities as of the date of each 
advance.  All advances will be made under the Future Advance Promissory Note (“the Note”) dated 
February 23, 2011.  The maximum principal amount of the Note is approximately $93.8 million.  No 
advances may be made under the Note after April 10, 2013.  Upon the occurrence and continuation of an 
event of default under the transaction documents, all amounts payable under the Note may be accelerated.  
In connection with the Loan Guarantee, the DOE has been granted a security interest in all of the equity 
interests of USG Oregon, as well as in the assets of USG Oregon, including a mortgage on real property 
interests relating to the Project site.  Loan advances and effective annual interest rates are details as follows: 
 

Description   Amount  
Annual Interest 

Rate % 
      

Advances by date:      
 August 31, 2011  $  2,328,422   2.997 
 September 28, 2011    10,043,467   2.755 
 October 27, 2011    3,600,026   2.918 
 December 2, 2011    4,377,079   2.795 
 December 21, 2011    2,313,322   2.608 
 January 25, 2012    8,968,019   2.772 
 April 26, 2012    13,029,325   2.695 
 May 30, 2012    19,497,204   2.408 
    64,156,864   
      

Accrued interest    650,231   

Loan balance at June 30, 2012  $  64,807,095   
 
The lack of an advance from the DOE for the month of June 2012 resulted in a $6.9 million accounts 
payable construction balance as of June 30, 2012.   
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SAIC Constructors LLC   
Effective August 27, 2010, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (USG Nevada LLC) signed a 
construction loan agreement with SAIC Constructors LLC (“SAIC”), formerly Benham Constructors LLC.  
SAIC will be the primary contractor in the relocation and replacement of the existing power plant.  The new 
8.6 net megawatt power plant is expected to cost approximately $32 million, and is expected to be 
completed during the 3rd calendar quarter 2012.  Upon completion, the USG Nevada LLC will pay the debt 
in full within 30 days of receipt of the final statement prepared by SAIC.  Interest will accrue on 
outstanding balance at 9.5% per annum.  When due, the Company expects to obtain funds to repay the loan 
balance with a long-term project loan.  The loan is non-recourse and is secured by the Project’s assets.  Title 
of all work and materials shall pass to the Company the later of delivery to the Site or upon payment in full.  
At June 30, 2012, the loan balance totaled $27,484,767, including accrued interest, and the entire balance 
was considered to be long-term. 
 
 
NOTE 11 – CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE 
 
August 2011 Convertible Note 
On August 5, 2011, the Oregon USG Holdings, LLC (“Oregon Holdings”), a subsidiary of the Company, 
signed a convertible note agreement with the other equity partner (Enbridge Inc.).  The principal of the loan 
totaled $2,125,000, and will accrue interest at a rate of 4.75% per annum.  The loan balance plus accrued 
interest will convert to an equity interest in Oregon Holdings upon the earliest of a conversion event or 
April 1, 2014.  Conversion events include the loss of federal funding to the Project.  The converted balance 
would increase Enbridge Inc.’s ownership at a ratio of 1.5% for each $1 million contributed.  At June 30, 
2012, the loan balance totaled $2,125,000 and is considered to be long-term.  
 
 
NOTE 12 - CAPITAL STOCK 

 
The Company is authorized to issue 250,000,000 shares of common stock.  All shares have equal voting 
rights, are non-assessable and have one vote per share.  Voting rights are not cumulative and, therefore, the 
holders of more than 50% of the common stock could, if they choose to do so, elect all of the directors of 
the Company. 
 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2012, the Company issued 3,375,503 common stock shares at prices 
between $0.341 and $0.536 under an At Market Issuance Sales agreement with Lincoln Park Capital.    
 
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company issued 76,500 common shares to employees of the 
Company upon exercise of stock options at a strike price of $1.00 CDN.  
 
On September 30, 2011, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement with McNicoll, 
Lewis & Vlak.  Under the agreement, the Company’s board of directors authorized the issuance and sale of 
shares of the Company’s common stock for aggregate gross sales proceeds of up to $10 million for one year 
from the date of execution of the agreement.  During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company issued 
241,989 common shares. This ATM agreement has been terminated. 
 
 
NOTE 13 - STOCK BASED COMPENSATION 

 
The Company has a stock incentive plan (the “Stock Incentive Plan”) for the purpose of attracting and 
motivating directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Corporation and advancing the interests of 
the Corporation.  The Stock Incentive Plan is a 15% rolling plan approved by shareholders in December 
2009, whereby the Company can grant options to the extent of 15% of the current outstanding common 
shares.  Under the plan, all forfeited and exercised options can be replaced with new offerings.  As of 
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March 31, 2012, the Company can issue stock option grants totaling up to 13,268,392 shares.  Options are 
granted for a term of up to five years from the date of grant.  Stock options granted generally vest over a 
period of eighteen months, with 25% vesting on the date of grant and 25% vesting every six months 
thereafter.  Effective April 1, 2007, all grants are stated in U.S. dollars.  The Company recognizes 
compensation expense using the straight-line method of amortization.  Historically, the Company has issued 
new shares to satisfy exercises of stock options and the Company expects to issue new shares to satisfy any 
future exercises of stock options.  At June 30, 2012, the Company had 7,975,125 options granted and 
outstanding. 
 
On January 22, 2012, options representing 157,500 shares of common stock exercisable at a price of $1.40 
CDN expired without exercise. 
 
On September 12, 2011, the Company granted 100,000 stock options to a director exercisable at a price of 
$0.60 until September 12, 2016. 
 
On July 31, 2012, options representing 78,750 shares of common stock exercisable at a price of $1.15 CDN 
expired without exercise. 
 
On June 3, 2011, the Company granted 2,590,000 stock options to employees exercisable at a price of $0.83 
until June 3, 2016. 
 
On April 12, 2011, 1,094,320 of the total 1,763,000 options issued and outstanding on April 12, 2006 at 
prices ranging from $0.85 CDN to $1.00 CDN, were forfeited due to expiration. An additional 11,000 
options at an exercise price of $0.92 were forfeited due to termination. 
 
The following table reflects the summary of stock options outstanding at March 31, 2011 and changes during 
for the year ended March 31, 2012 and the quarter ended June 30, 2012: 

 

 

Number of 
shares under 

options 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 
Price Per 

Share 

Weighted 
Average 

Fair 
Value 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value 

     

Balance outstanding, March 31, 2011  6,703,195  $ 1.38  $ 0.86  $ 5,734,572 
     

 Forfeited  (1,341,570) 1.06  1.00  (1,348,364)
 Exercised  (76,500) 1.00  1.02  (77,868)
 Granted  2,690,000 0.82  0.49  1,305,170 
Balance outstanding, March 31, 2012  7,975,125 1.38  0.70  5,613,510 
     

 Forfeited  - -  -  - 
 Exercised  - -  -  - 
 Granted  - -  -  - 
Balance outstanding, June 30, 2012  7,975,125  $ 1.38  $ 0.70  $ 5,613,500 
 

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model using the assumptions noted in the following table.  Expected volatilities are based on historical 
volatility of the Company’s stock.  The Company uses historical data to estimate option volatility within the 
Black-Scholes model.  The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options granted 
are expected to be outstanding, based upon past experience and future estimates and includes data from the 
Plan.  The risk-free rate for periods within the expected term of the option is based upon the U.S. Treasury 
yield curve in effect at the time of grant.  The Company currently does not foresee the payment of dividends in 
the near term.  
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The fair value of the stock options granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is 
amortized over the vesting period of the underlying options.  The assumptions used to calculate the fair value 
are as follows: 

 
Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate and, therefore, the 
existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock 
options. 
 
The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at June 30, 2012: 

 

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING      

EXERCISE 
PRICE 

NUMBER OF  
OPTIONS 

REMAINING 
CONTRACTUAL 

LIFE (YEARS)  

NUMBER OF  
OPTIONS 

EXERCISABLE  INTRINSIC VALUE

         
$  2.41  652,500 0.06   652,500    460,975 
  2.22  1,465,000 0.88   1,465,000    1,786,417 
  1.78  95,000 1.24   95,000    81,172 
  0.92  1,704,625 1.90   1,704,625    1,204,713 
  1.58  68,000 2.23   68,000    26,435 
  0.86  1,300,000 3.20   1,300,000    752,207 
  0.83  2,590,000 3.93   1,942,500    951,825 
  0.60  100,000 4.20   50,000    18,036 

$  1.25  7,975,125 2.46   7,277,625  $  5,281,780 
 
 
The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at March 31, 2012: 

 

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING      

EXERCISE 
PRICE 

NUMBER OF  
OPTIONS 

REMAINING 
CONTRACTUAL 

LIFE (YEARS)  

NUMBER OF  
OPTIONS 

EXERCISABLE  INTRINSIC VALUE

         
$  2.41  652,500 0.31   652,500    460,975 
  2.22  1,465,000 1.13   1,465,000    1,786,417 
  1.78  95,000 1.49   95,000    81,172 
  0.92  1,704,625 2.15   1,704,625    1,204,713 
  1.58  68,000 2.48   68,000    26,435 
  0.86  1,300,000 3.45   1,300,000    752,207 
  0.83  2,590,000 4.18   1,295,000    634,550 
  0.60  100,000 4.45   50,000    18,036 

$  1.25  7,975,125 2.71   6,630,125  $  4,964,505 

 Three Months 
Ended June 30, 

2012 

 
Year Ended 

March 31, 2012 
 

    

Dividend yield  0   0 
Expected volatility  87-91%   87-91% 
Risk free interest rate  0.25-1.21%   0.25-1.21% 
Expected life (years)  3.25   3.25 
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A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested stock options outstanding at March 31, 2011 and 
changes during the year March 31, 2012 and the quarter ended June 30, 2012 are presented as follows: 
 

 
Number of 

Options 

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value 

Per Share 

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value 

    

Nonvested, March 31, 2011  650,000  $ 0.86  $ 0.58 
    

 Granted  2,690,000  0.82  0.49 
 Vested  (1,995,000)  0.83  0.51 
 Forfeited  -  -  - 
Nonvested, March 31, 2012  1,345,000   0.82    0.49 
    
    

 Granted  -  -  - 
 Vested  (647,500)  0.82  0.49 
 Forfeited  -  -  - 
Nonvested, June 30, 2012  697,500  $ 0.82  $ 0.49 

 
As of June 30, 2012, there was $274,992 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-
based compensation arrangements granted under the Plan.  That cost is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.5 years.  The total fair value of options vested at March 31, 2012 and June 31, 
2012 was $1,205,798 and $162,975; respectively. 
 
Stock Compensation Plan (Restricted Shares) 
 
On September 10, 2010, the Company granted officers, directors and select employees 705,000 common 
shares that will be distributed in three six-month vesting periods.  The recipients meet the vesting 
requirements by maintaining employment and good standing with the Company through the vesting 
periods.  After vesting, there are no restrictions on the shares.  On March 10, 2011, the 705,000 common 
shares were issued to the recipients and held by the Company.  All of these shares were considered to be 
issued and outstanding.  On March 11, 2011, 235,000 common shares vested valued at $0.99 per share, and 
the shares were released to the qualified recipients.  On September 11, 2011, 235,000 common shares vested 
valued at $0.60 per share and the shares were released to the qualified recipients.  The final 235,000 shares 
valued at $0.58 vested on March 11, 2012.  
 
Stock Purchase Warrants 
 
At June 30, 2012, the outstanding broker warrants and share purchase warrants consisted of the following: 

 
On March 4, 2012, 2,500,000 stock purchase warrants and 56,000 broker warrants at an exercise price of 
$1.075 expired without exercise.  
 

Expiration Date  
Broker 

Warrants  

Broker 
Warrant 
Exercise 

Price  

Share 
Purchase 
Warrants  

Warrant 
Exercise 

Price 
           

February 23, 2013  -  $ -  500,000  $ 5.000 
September 16, 2015  246,285   1.250  4,104,757   1.250 
May 31, 2017  118,421   0.437  -   - 
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On August 17, 2011, 4,050,000 stock purchase warrants at an exercise price of $1.75 and 243,000 broker 
warrants at an exercise price of $1.22 expired without exercise.  
 
 
NOTE 14 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
 
Current U.S. generally accepted accounting principles establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to 
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement).  

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:  

Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Active 
markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are 
either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 includes those financial 
instruments that are valued using models or other valuation methodologies. These models are 
primarily industry-standard models that consider various assumptions, including quoted forward 
prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors, and current market and contractual prices for the 
underlying instruments, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these 
assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be 
derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed 
in the marketplace.  

Level 3 – Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally unobservable from objective 
sources. These inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in 
management’s best estimate of fair value. Level 3 instruments include those that may be more 
structured or otherwise tailored to the Company’s needs.  

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement.  The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular 
input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and 
liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.  
 
The following table discloses by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s assets and liabilities 
measured and reported on its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2012 at fair value on a recurring 
basis: 
 

 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Assets:     
Money market accounts $ 328,689 $ 328,689 $ -  $ - 
Investment in equity securities  67,501  -  67,501  - 

 $ 396,190 $ 328,689 $ 67,501  $ - 
 
As allowed by current financial reporting standards, the Company has elected not to implement fair value 
recognition and reporting for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except for those that are 
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, that is, at least 
annually.   
 
There were no changes in Level 3 assets measured for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011.   
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NOTE 15 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
At June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012 the amounts of $4,563 and $2,087; respectively, were payable to 
directors and officers of the Company for routine expense reimbursement.  These amounts are unsecured and 
due on demand. 
 
The Company paid directors fees in the amounts of $30,000 and $52,500 for the three months ended June 30, 
2012 and 2011; respectively.   
 
 
NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Operating Lease Agreements 
The Company has entered into several lease agreements with terms expiring up to December 1, 2034 for 
geothermal properties in Washoe County Nevada; Republic of Guatemala; Neal Hot Springs, Oregon and 
adjoining the Raft River properties in Raft River, Idaho.  The Company incurred total lease expenses for 
years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, totaling $45,625 and $66,477; respectively. 
 
BLM Lease Agreements 
 
Idaho 
On August 1, 2007, the Company signed a geothermal resources lease agreement with the United States 
Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”).  The contract requires an annual payment 
of $3,502 including processing fees.  The primary term of the agreement is 10 years.  After the primary term, 
the Company has the right to extend the contract.  BLM has the right to terminate the contract upon written 
notice if the Company does not comply with the terms of the agreement.  The Company believes that it is in 
compliance with all of the lease terms. 
 
San Emidio  
The lease contracts are for approximately 21,905 acres of land and geothermal rights located in the San 
Emidio Desert, Nevada.  The lease contracts have primary terms of 10 years.  Per federal regulations 
applicable for the contracts, the lessee has the option to extend the primary lease term another 40 years if the 
BLM does not need the land for any other purpose and the lessee is maintaining production at commercial 
quantities.  The leases require the lessee to conduct operations in a manner that minimizes adverse impacts to 
the environment. 
 
Gerlach 
The Gerlach Geothermal LLC assets are comprised of two BLM geothermal leases and one private lease 
totaling 3,615 acres.  Both BLM leases have a royalty rate which is based upon 10% of the value of the 
resource at the wellhead.  The amounts are calculated according to a formula established by Minerals 
Management Service (“MMS”).  One of the two BLM leases has a second royalty commitment to a third party 
of 4% of gross revenue for power generation and 5% for direct use based on BTUs consumed at a set 
comparable price of $7.00 per million BTU of natural gas.  The private lease has a 10 year primary term and 
would receive a royalty of 3% gross revenue for the first 10 years and 4% thereafter. 
 
Granite Creek 
The Company has three geothermal lease contracts with the BLM for the Granite Creek properties.  The lease 
contracts are for approximately 5,414 acres of land and geothermal water rights located in North Western 
Nevada.  The lease contracts have primary terms of 10 years.  Per federal regulations applicable for the 
contracts, the lessee has the option to extend the primary lease term another 40 years if the BLM does not need 
the land for any other purpose and the lessee is maintaining production at commercial quantities.  The leases 
state annual lease payments of $5,414, not including processing fees, and expire October 31, 2012. 
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Raft River Energy I LLC 
The Company has entered into several lease contracts for approximately 1,298 acres of land and geothermal 
water rights located in the Raft River area located in Southern Idaho.  The contracts expire from March 2013 
to December 2033.  The contracted lease payments are scheduled for $31,287 for the year ended March 31, 
2013. 
 
Office Lease 
The Company renewed a one year lease contract January 2012 for general office space for the executive office 
located in Boise, Idaho.  The contract includes a one-year renewal option for the Company.  The lease 
payments are due in monthly installments of $6,345.  The Company incurred total office lease expenses 
under the current contract and the prior contract for three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, totaling 
$19,034 and $18,480; respectively. 
 
The following is the total contracted lease operating obligations (operating leases, BLM lease agreements and 
office lease) for the next five fiscal years: 
 

Year Ending 
June 30,  Amount 

    

2013  $  200,626 
2014    107,034 
2015    98,462 
2016    96,470 
2017    90,397 

Thereafter    538,749 
 
Power Purchase Agreements 
 
Raft River Energy I LLC 
The Company has signed a power purchase agreement with Idaho Power Company for sale of power 
generated from its joint venture Raft River Energy I LLC.  The Company has also signed a transmission 
agreement with Bonneville Power Administration for transmission of the electricity from this plant to Idaho 
Power, and from the Phase Two plants to other purchasers.  These agreements will govern the operational 
revenues for the initial phases of the Company’s operating activities. 
 
USG Nevada LLC 
As a part of the purchase of the assets from Empire Geothermal Power, LLC and Michael B. Stewart 
acquisition (“Empire Acquisition”), a power purchase agreement with Sierra Pacific Power Company was 
assigned to the Company.  The contract had a stated expected output of 3,250 kilowatts maximum per hour 
and extended through 2017.  During the year ended March 31, 2012, the power purchase agreement was 
replaced by a new 25 year contract signed in December of 2011 that sets the new set rate at $89.70 per 
megawatt hour with a 1% annual escalation rate.  The new contract allows for a maximum of 71,300 
megawatt hours annually. Upon declaration of COD under the PPA, an Operating Security Deposit of 
$1,426,700 is required to be maintained at NV Energy for the full term of the PPA. 
 
USG Oregon LLC 
In December of 2009, the Company’s subsidiary (USG Oregon LLC), signed a power purchase agreement 
with Idaho Power Company for the sale of power generated by the Neal Hot Springs, Oregon project.  The 
agreement has a term of 25 years and provides for the purchase of power up to 25 megawatts (22 megawatt 
planned output level).  Beginning 2012, the flat energy price is $96 per megawatt hour.  The price escalates 
annually by 6 percent in the initial years and by 1.33 percent during the latter years of the agreement.  The 
approximate 25-year levelized price is $117.65 per megawatt hour.  
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401(k) Plan 
The Company offers a defined contribution plan qualified under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code 
to all its eligible employees.  All employees are eligible at the beginning of the quarter after completing 3 
months of service.  The plan requires the Company to match 25% of the employee’s contribution up to 6%.  
Employees may contribute up to the maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Code.  The Company made 
matching contributions to the plan that totaled $9,551 and $9,206 for the quarters ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011; respectively.   
 
Mineral Rights Option Agreement 
On May 24, 2010, USG Oregon LLC (a subsidiary of the Company) entered into an option agreement that 
allows for exclusive purchase of all mineral rights associated with 2,110 acres of land located in Malheur 
County, Oregon.  Per the terms of the agreement, the Company transferred $200,000 to the seller.  To exercise 
the option agreement, the Company must pay an additional $200,000 prior to November 25, 2012.  If the 
second payment is not made, the Company loses all rights associated with the agreement. 
 
Retention Liability on USG Oregon LLC Construction Contracts  
The Company signed contracts with several major contractors involved in construction activities for USG 
Oregon LLC.  Contracts for two of these major contractors allow for the Company to retain a portion of 
incurred costs to guarantee certain performance specifications.  The retention levels generally amount to 10% 
of incurred costs.  At June 30, 2012, the retention payable balance was $6,575,907.  Currently, management 
does not have any performance concerns on these contracts. 
 
Retention Liability on USG Nevada LLC Construction Contract  
The USG Nevada LLC signed a contract with the primary contractor involved in the power plant construction 
at San Emidio, Nevada.  The contract allows for the Company to retain a portion of incurred costs to guarantee 
certain performance specifications.  The retention levels generally amount to 10% of incurred costs.  At June 
30, 2012, the retention payable balance was $2,768,980.  Currently, management does not have any 
performance concerns on these contracts. 
 
 
NOTE 17 – JOINT VENTURES/NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 
 
Non-controlling interests included on the consolidated balance sheets of the Company are detailed as follows: 
 
 June 30, 2012  March 31, 2012 
      
Gerlach Geothermal LLC interest held by Gerlach Green 

Energy, LLC $  406,821  $  437,542 
Oregon USG Holdings LLC interest held by Enbridge Inc.    32,791,177    25,793,169 
Raft River Energy I LLC interest held by Raft River I 

Holdings, LLC   22,643,509    23,533,734 
 $  55,841,507  $  49,764,445 

 
Gerlach Geothermal LLC 
On April 28, 2008, the Company formed Gerlach Geothermal, LLC (“Gerlach”) with our partner, Gerlach 
Green Energy, LLC (“GGE”).  The purpose of the joint venture is the exploration of the Gerlach geothermal 
system, which is located in northwestern Nevada, near the town of Gerlach.  Based upon the terms of the 
members’ agreement, the Company owns a 60% interest and GGE owns a 40% interest in Gerlach 
Geothermal, LLC.  The agreement gives GGE an option to maintain its 40% ownership interest as additional 
capital contributions are required.  If GGE dilutes to below a 10% interest, their ownership position in the 
joint venture would be converted to a 10% net profits interest.  The Company has contributed $746,000 in 
cash and $300,000 for a geothermal lease and mineral rights; and the GGE has contributed $697,000 of 
geothermal lease, mineral rights and exploration data.   
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The consolidated financial statements reflect 100% of the assets and liabilities of Gerlach, and report the 
current non-controlling interest of GGE.  The full results of Gerlach’s operations are reflected in the statement 
of operations with the elimination of the non-controlling interest identified.   
 
Oregon USG Holdings LLC 
In September 2010, the Company’s subsidiary, Oregon USG Holdings LLC (“Oregon Holdings”), signed 
an Operating Agreement with Enbridge Inc. (“Enbridge”) for the right to participate in the Company’s 
project in the Neal Hot Springs project located in Malheur County, Oregon.  Enbridge has contributed a 
total of $18,924,000, including the debt conversion, to Oregon Holdings in exchange for a 20% direct 
ownership interest.  At the Company’s election, the agreement allows for additional contributions of up to 
$5 million that would increase Enbridge’s ownership by 1.5 percentage points for each $1 million 
contributed.  Added to their base 20% ownership, additional payments could increase Enbridge’s ownership 
to a maximum of 27.5%.  The Company has contributed $13,492,000 to Oregon Holdings and has an 80% 
ownership interest.  Oregon Holdings has a 100% ownership interest in USG Oregon LLC.  After the initial 
contributions noted above, the Company and Enbridge have made additional capital contributions of 
$462,616 and $13,877,000; respectively.  The impact of the additional contributions to the profit and loss 
allocation percentages has not been determined.   
 
The consolidated financial statements reflect 100% of the assets and liabilities of Oregon Holdings and USG 
Oregon LLC, and report the current non-controlling interest of Enbridge.  The full results of Oregon Holdings 
and USG Oregon LLC’s operations are reflected in the statement of operations with the elimination of the 
non-controlling interest identified.   
 
Raft River Energy I LLC  
Raft River Energy I is a joint venture between the Company and Raft River I Holdings, LLC a subsidiary of 
the Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.  An Operating Agreement governs the rights and responsibilities of both 
parties.  At fiscal year end, the Company had contributed approximately $17.9 million in cash and property, 
and Raft River I Holdings, LLC has contributed approximately $34.1 million in cash.  Profits and losses are 
allocated to the members based upon contractual terms.  For income tax purposes, Raft River I Holdings, 
LLC receives a greater proportion of the share of losses and other income tax benefits.  This includes the 
allocation of production tax credits, which will be distributed 99% to Raft River I Holdings, LLC and 1% to 
the Company during the first 10 years of production.  During the initial years of operations, Raft River I 
Holdings, LLC will receive a larger allocation of cash distributions. See Note 18 on changes to the accounting 
treatment for this investment. 
 
The consolidated financial statements reflect 100% of the assets and liabilities of Raft River Energy I LLC, 
and report the current non-controlling interest of Raft River I Holdings LLC.  The full results of Raft River 
Energy I LLC’s operations are reflected in the statement of operations with the elimination of the non-
controlling interest identified.   
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NOTE 18 – CHANGE IN METHOD OF ACCOUNTING FOR SUBSIDIARY AND 
RECLASSIFATION OF STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

 
Due to the changes in consolidation methods of the Company and its subsidiary and the general change in the 
nature of the Company’s operations, certain changes were made in the presentation of the Company’s 
statement of operations.  The Company has reclassified, expanded and consolidated certain operating revenue 
and cost line items.  Since the changes were effective April 1, 2011, the statement of operations for the three 
months ended June 30, 2011 were presented below.      
 
Changes related to the consolidation method were due to changes in the Company’s relationship with its 
subsidiary Raft River Energy I LLC (“RREI”).  Initially, RREI was a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company and was recorded as a fully consolidated subsidiary into the Company’s financial statements.  In 
2006, Raft River I Holdings (“Holdings”), a subsidiary of the Goldman Sachs Group, acquired an equity 
interest by providing a significant capital investment in RREI under a tax equity structure.  Subsequent 
accounting activity of RREI was reflected under the equity method on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.   
 
Based on management’s annual review of the conditions and circumstances surrounding the relationship 
between the Company and Holdings, it was determined that the Company could no longer use the equity 
method to reflect the Company’s interest in RREI as of April 1, 2011.  The Company now fully 
consolidates RREI’s assets, liabilities and operations and recognizes a non-controlling interest attributed to 
Holding’s interests.   
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The changes to amounts originally reported for the three months ended June 30, 2011 in the statement of 
operations are presented as follows:   
 

 For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011 
 Originally 

Reported  Net Change  As Reclassified 
         

Plant Operations:         
 Plant Revenues:         
  Energy sales     $ 623,731  $ 651,059  $ 1,274,790 
  Energy credit sales  38,339   84,846   123,185 
   Total plant revenues  662,070   735,905   1,397,975 
         

 Plant Operating Expenses:         
  Plant production expenses  -   1,027,565   1,027,565 
  Well repairs and maintenance   -   1,480,706   1,480,706 
   Total plant operating expenses  -   2,508,271   2,508,271 
         

Gain (Loss) from Plant Operations  662,070   (1,772,366)   (1,110,296) 
         

Other Operating Revenues:         
 Land, water and mineral rights lease  45,012   (45,012)   - 
 Management fees  62,500   (62,500)   - 
 Gain from investment in subsidiary  38,677   (38,677)   - 
Gain (loss) from plant operations and other 

operating revenues  808,259   (1,918,555)   (1,110,296) 
         

Operating Expenses:         
 Consulting fees  2,062   (2,062)   - 
 Corporate administration  267,964   -   267,964 
 Professional & management fees  1,266,767   2,062   1,268,829 
 Salaries and wages  599,036   -   599,036 
 Stock based compensation  534,898   -   534,898 
 Travel and promotion  37,386   -   37,386 
 Other plant expenses  678,888   107,097   785,985 
 Other operating expenses  34,744   -   34,744 
  Total Operating Expenses  3,421,745   107,097   3,528,842 
         

   Loss from Operations  (2,613,486)   (2,025,652)   (4,639,138) 
         

Other income  5,481    302   5,783 
         

Net Loss before accumulated change  (2,608,005)   (2,025,350)   (4,633,355) 
         

 Accumulated effect on prior period 
application of capitalization policy  262,305   -   262,305 

         

Net Loss  (2,345,700)   (2,025,350)   (4,371,050) 
         

 Net loss attributable to non-controlling 
interest  4,676   2,025,350   2,030,026 

         

Net loss attributable to U.S. Geothermal Inc.  (2,341,024)   -   (2,341,024) 
         

Other comprehensive Income  (67,789)   -   (67,789) 
         

Comprehensive Loss attributable to U.S. 
Geothermal Inc. $ (2,408,813)  $ -  $ (2,408,813) 

 
 
NOTE 19 – CUMULATIVE CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE CAPITALIZATION POLICY 
 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, it was noted by Company management that certain costs related to 
development activities incurred for USG Oregon LLC had been expensed in the prior period according to 
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the capitalization policies instituted at that time that have been amended to match policies recommended by 
the external federal agency that is providing assistance for the Neal Hot Springs, Oregon project.  The 
change in estimate adjustment capitalizes $262,305, which was previously reported as corporate 
administration, professional fees, and lease and equipment repairs that amounted to $2,498, $162,886, and 
$96,920; respectively.   
 
   
NOTE 20 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The Company has evaluated events and transactions that have occurred after the balance sheet date through 
August 14, 2012, which is considered to be the issuance date.  No events were identified for disclosure. 
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Item 2 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations 
 
INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS  
 
This document contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties.  We caution readers that any forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of future 
performance and that actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking 
statement.  These statements are based on current expectations of future events.  You can find many of 
these statements by looking for words like “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intend,” “estimates,” 
“may,” “should,” “will,” “could,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” or similar expressions in this document 
or in documents incorporated by reference in this document.  Examples of these forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to: 
 

 our business and growth strategies;  

 our future results of operations;  

 anticipated trends in our business;  

 the capacity and utilization of our geothermal resources; 

 our ability to successfully and economically explore for and develop geothermal resources; 

 our exploration and development prospects, projects and programs, including timing and cost 
of construction of new projects and expansion of existing projects; 

 availability and costs of drilling rigs and field services; 

 our liquidity and ability to finance our exploration and development activities;  

 our working capital requirements and availability; 

 our illustrative plant economics; 

 market conditions in the geothermal energy industry; and  

 the impact of environmental and other governmental regulation.  

 
These forward-looking statements are based on the current beliefs and expectations of our management 
and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.  If underlying assumptions prove inaccurate or 
unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, actual results may differ materially from current expectations 
and projections.  The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ from those set 
forth in the forward-looking statements:  
 

 the failure to obtain sufficient capital resources to fund our operations;  

 unsuccessful construction and expansion activities, including delays or cancellations;  

 incorrect estimates of required capital expenditures;  

 increases in the cost of drilling and completion, or other costs of production and operations;  

 the enforceability of the power purchase agreements for our projects; 

 impact of environmental and other governmental regulation, including delays in obtaining 
permits; 

 hazardous and risky operations relating to the development of geothermal energy; 

 our ability to successfully identify and integrate acquisitions; 
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 the failure of the geothermal resource to support the anticipated power capacity; 

 our dependence on key personnel; 

 the potential for claims arising from geothermal plant operations; 

 general competitive conditions within the geothermal energy industry; and 

 financial market conditions. 

All subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our 
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this 
section.  We do not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking 
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document or to reflect the occurrence of 
unanticipated events, except as may be required under applicable U.S. securities law.  If we do update one 
or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates 
with respect to those or other forward-looking statements. 
 
The U.S. dollar is the Company’s functional currency; however some transactions involved the Canadian 
dollar.  All references to “dollars” or “$” are to United States dollars and all  have references to $ CDN 
are to Canadian dollars. 
 
General Background and Discussion 
 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial 
statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 and notes thereto included in this report. 
 
U.S. Geothermal Inc. (“the Company”) is a Delaware corporation.  The Company’s common stock trades 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “GTH” and on the NYSE MKT LLC under the trade 
symbol “HTM.” 
 
For the quarter ended June 30, 2012, the Company was focused on:  
 

1) Commissioning and operation of the new San Emidio Unit 1 power plant in Nevada; 
2) Drilling injection wells and construction at the Neal Hot Springs project in Oregon; 
3) Optimizing power generation at Raft River Unit I; 
4) Starting the drilling of observation and production wells for the San Emidio Phase II project in 

conjunction with the DOE Innovative Exploration program; 
5) Negotiating long term financing for San Emidio Phases I and II and discussing development 

funding for Phase III; 
6) Conducting negotiations with potential equity partners for the El Ceibillo project in Guatemala; 

and 
7) The evaluation of potential new geothermal projects acquisitions.  
 

 
Project Overview 
 
The following is a list of projects that are in operation, under development or under exploration.  Projects 
in operation have producing geothermal power plants.  Projects under development have at least a 
geothermal resource discovery or may have wells in place, but require the drilling of new or additional 
production and injection wells in order to supply enough geothermal fluid sufficient to operate a 
commercial power plant.  Projects under exploration do not have a geothermal resource discovery 
occurrence yet, but have significant thermal and other physical evidence that warrants the expenditure of 
capital in search of the discovery of a geothermal resource.  Due to inflation and marketplace increases in 
the costs of labor and construction materials, previous estimates of property development costs may be 
low. 
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Projects in Operation 

Project  Location  Ownership

Generating 
Capacity 

(megawatts)(1) Power Purchaser  
Contract 

Expiration 

Raft River (Unit I)  Idaho  JV(2) 13.0 
Idaho Power 

Company  2032 
San Emidio (New 

Phase I)  Nevada  100% 8.6 
Sierra Pacific 
Power Corp.  2038 

 
(1) Based on the designed annual average net output.  The actual output of the Raft River Unit I plant currently varies between 7.1 and 

10.0 megawatts and output of the recently decommissioned San Emidio plant was approximately 2.6 megawatts. 
(2) As part of the financing package for Unit I of the Raft River project, we have contributed $16.5 million in cash and approximately 

$1.5 million in property to Raft River Energy I LLC, the Unit I project joint venture company.  Raft River I Holdings, LLC, a 
subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, contributed $34 million to finance the construction of the project.  Additional 
investment may be required for Unit I to operate at design capacity. 

 
Projects Under Development 

Project Location Ownership 

Target 
Development 
(Megawatts) 

Projected 
Commercial 

Operation Date 

Estimated 
Capital 

Required 
($million) 

 
Power Purchaser 

San Emidio Phase II 
(Expansion) 

Nevada 100% 8.6 TBD (3) $50 NV Energy 

San Emidio Phase III Nevada 100% 17.2 TBD (3) $100 TBD 
Neal Hot Springs I Oregon JV(1) 22  4th  Quarter 2012 $143 Idaho Power 
Neal Hot Springs II Oregon 100% 28 TBD TBD TBD 
El Ceibillo Guatemala 100% 25 1st Quarter 2015 $118 TBD 
Raft River (Unit II) Idaho 100% 26 TBD $134 TBD 
Raft River (Unit III) Idaho 100% 32 TBD $166 TBD 
       

(1) In September 2010, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (Oregon USG Holdings LLC) entered into agreements that formulated a 
strategic partnership with Enbridge (U.S.) Inc. (“Enbridge”).  As of June 30, 2012, Enbridge has contributed approximately $32.8 
million to the Neal Hot Springs geothermal project.  The Company and Enbridge have not yet determined Enbridge’s current equity 
interest in the project, but current estimates show that Enbridge could own up to 44% of the project. 

(2) As part of the financing package for Unit I of the Raft River project, we have contributed $16.5 million in cash and approximately 
$1.5 million in property to Raft River Energy I LLC, the Unit I project joint venture company.  Raft River I Holdings, LLC, a 
subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, contributed $34 million to finance the construction of the project. 

(3) Due to the delays experienced with bringing San Emidio Phase I on line, development dates for Phase II and Phase III at San Emidio 
have been effected and will be determined after Phase I has reached final completion. 

 
Additional Properties 

Project  Location  Ownership Target Development (Megawatts)
Gerlach  Nevada  60% To be determined 
Granite Creek  Nevada  100% To be determined 
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Resource Details 

Property  
Property Size 
(square miles)  

Temperature 
(F)  

Resource 
Potential 

(Megawatts)  Depth (Ft)  Technology 
Raft River  10.8(1)  275-302 (2)  127.0(1)  4,500-6,000  Binary 
San Emidio  35.8  289-305 (2)  64.0(4)  1,500-2,000  Binary 
Neal Hot Springs  9.6  311-347 (3)  50.0(5)  2,500-3,000  Binary 
Gerlach  5.6  338-352 (3)  18.0  TBD  Binary 
Granite Creek  8.5  TBD  TBD  TBD  Binary 
El Ceibillo  38.6  410-446 (3)  25.0(6)  TBD  Steam 

 
 

(1) A third party’s assessment of 94 megawatts was based on 6.0 square miles.  The Company has since acquired additional acreage. The 
resource estimate of 127.0 megawatts was provided by a third party. 

(2) Actual production temperatures for existing wells. 
(3) Probable reservoir temperature as measured with a geothermometer. 
(4)    A third party resource estimate with respect to 44.0 megawatts, remainder is an internal estimate. 
(5)    A third party resource estimate with respect to 22.0 megawatts, remainder is an internal estimate. 
(6)    Internal estimate. 

 
 

 
 
Neal Hot Springs Update 
Neal Hot Springs is located in Malheur County, Oregon and has been established as a commercial 
geothermal resource. 
 
On February 26, 2009,  the Company submitted a loan application for the Neal Hot Springs project to the 
DOE’s Energy Efficiency, Renewable Energy and Advanced Transmission and Distribution Solicitation 
loan guarantee program under Title XVII of the Energy Policy Act of 2005.  The financial closing for the 
DOE loan guarantee took place on February 23, 2011 which secured a $96.8 million loan guarantee from 
the Department of Energy and a direct loan from the U.S. Treasury’s Federal Financing Bank.  The $96.8 
million loan represents 67% of the total project cost which is now estimated to be $143.6 million for the 
project, a $14.6 million increase from the previous estimate.  The DOE loan is a combined construction 
and 22 year term loan.  The interest rate on the loan is set at 37.5 basis points over the current average 
yield on outstanding marketable obligations of the United States of comparable maturity as determined on 
each date that a draw is made on the loan.  As of May 31, 2012, eight monthly draws totaling $64.16 
million have been taken on the DOE loan, which have a combined annual interest rate of 2.654%. 
 
Over the course of the ongoing construction, the budget was increased by $14.6 million in equity 
contributions by the partners.  The first increase was for $7.0 million to cover additional drilling costs and 
modifications in plant controls and the cooling mechanism.  Enbridge Inc., our partner at Neal Hot 
Springs, provided the additional investment in exchange for increased ownership interest in the project 
from 20% to approximately 27%.  The project already has 100% of the required production capacity and 
about 60% of the required injection capacity proven. Certain wells were drilled into deep injection zones, 
but two of these wells do not have satisfactory capacity; therefore, a second increase of $6 million has 
been established for an extended drilling program that is engineered to provide the required 40% capacity.  
Depending on the amounts contributed by each partner, this cash call will result in further adjustments in 
the ownership of the project.  
 
Notice to proceed was issued to both the EPC contractor (Industrial Builders Inc.) and equipment supplier 
(TAS Energy) on February 24, 2011.  Detailed design and construction of the supercritical cycle power 
plant utilizing significantly improved technology is currently in progress.  The new plant, which will 
consist of three separate power modules, is designed to deliver approximately 22 megawatts of power net 
to the grid.  The first module is scheduled to begin commercial operations during the third calendar 
quarter of 2012 and the full plant is scheduled to achieve a commercial operation date in the 4th quarter of 
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2012.  As of August 8, construction of the total project is estimated to be 93 % complete with about 80% 
of the DOE loan drawn. 
 
The EPC contractor has continued site construction work and the equipment supplier commenced 
equipment delivery.  On May 27, 2012, the Company was notified by the EPC contractor that mechanical 
completion was achieved on the first unit.  On June 28, 2012, the construction contractor provided notice 
of mechanical completion for the second of the three modules and on July 31, 2012 notice of mechanical 
completion was received for the third 7.3 net megawatt, air cooled power plant module.  The first unit 
achieved several turbine rolls during July, but a steel pin that holds an inlet guide vane in position failed, 
which required shutdown of the unit.  Commissioning is expected to begin again during the second week 
in August.  Production and injection pipelines are being completed and insulation installed.  Four 
production pumps have been installed and are ready to supply fluid to the power plant. 
 
After the long term flow test that was completed in January 2011, a reservoir model was completed on 
March 24, 2011 by the Company’s consulting reservoir engineer, and after review, the DOE independent 
reservoir engineer issued a reservoir certificate on March 31, 2011.  The final reservoir report and 
certificate confirmed that the reservoir was able to sustain the production necessary for the planned 22 
megawatt project from the existing four production wells.  An injection plan was developed as part of the 
plan, and drilling operations resumed in April 2011 to complete the injection well field for the project. 
 
Four large diameter injection wells (NHS-3, NHS-9, NHS-12, and NHS-13) and three slim hole injectors 
(NHS-10, T/G 16b and T/G 3) have been completed and provide an estimated 70 percent of the capacity 
needed.  NHS-4 and NHS-11, both planned as deep injectors, did not find the capacity that was expected 
when they were drilled.  Drilling for the remaining injection capacity at Neal Hot Springs began on June 
12, 2012 at well NHS-14 which was drilled to a depth of 1,688 feet. The well encountered modest 
permeability and is being evaluated as to its injection capacity.  Drilling then moved to well NHS-4 which 
successfully intersected the major permeability in reservoir formation at a depth at 5,960 feet.  Initial flow 
test results indicate that NHS-4 is a significant injector.  One additional injection well, scheduled to begin 
next week, is expected to complete the drilling program. To date, approximately 85 percent of the 
required injection capacity has been drilled.  Once the Unit 1 power plant has achieved substantial 
completion and is operating continuously, reservoir and tracer testing will be started to complete the 
numerical reservoir model for the project. 
 
The Company has received the Conditional Use Permit from the Malheur County Planning Commission 
for construction of its proposed 22 net megawatt power plant at Neal Hot Springs in eastern Oregon.  The 
Conditional Use Permit received unanimous approval at a September 24, 2009 Planning Commission 
meeting and was issued on October 28, 2009.  All of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(“FERC”) mandated transmission studies have been completed by Idaho Power Company.  An 
interconnection agreement was signed with the Idaho Power Company in February 2009.  As of the end 
of the first fiscal quarter, Idaho Power has completed the transmission line and substation, and it is ready 
to accept power delivery. 
 
The PPA for the project was signed on December 11, 2009 with the Idaho Power Company.  The PPA has 
a 25 year term with a starting price of $96.00 per megawatt-hour and escalates at a variable percentage 
annually.  On May 20, 2010, the Idaho Public Utilities Commission approved the PPA with no changes to 
the terms and conditions. 
 
San Emidio, Nevada Update 
The new Phase I power plant at San Emidio achieved commercial operation on May 25, 2012 and is 
ramping up production.  The plant produced 1,745 megawatt-hours in May, 3,790 megawatt-hours in 
June and 4,340 megawatt-hours in July.  On July 27th, the plant was shut down by the EPC contractor to 
make repairs that are expected to fix the turbine/gearbox vibration.  During the shutdown, the EPC 
contractor discovered a problem with the turbine silencer and has developed a replacement unit that is 
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being installed. The repairs were extended due to the silencer issue and are expected to take up to 24 days, 
which will affect both July and August power generation.  
 
The San Emidio expansion is planned to take place in three phases.  Phase I is a repower, and Phases II 
and III are planned to be expansions.  Phase I utilizes the existing production and injection wells with 
installation of a new, more efficient 8.6 MW net power plant which achieved commercial operation on 
May 25, 2012.  Phase II is a planned expansion within the bounds of the existing San Emidio geothermal 
reservoir and is subject to the successful development of additional production wells through exploration 
and drilling activities.  Phase III is planned as a further expansion for 17.2 MW net utilizing two 
additional power modules similar to Phases I and II. 
 
For Phases I and II, the Company made an application for the DOE’s 1705 loan guarantee program 
anticipating that 75% of the total project capital may be funded by a Department of Energy loan 
guarantee, with the remainder funded through equity financing.  Due to funding difficulties experienced 
by the DOE loan guarantee program, a DOE loan guarantee is no longer available to the San Emidio 
project.  Discussions with several senior lenders for a long term loan to take out the SAIC construction 
loan are ongoing, which the Company expects to complete in the next few months. 
 
On November 9, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, USG Nevada LLC, entered into a bridge 
loan agreement with Ares Capital Corporation.  The bridge loan monetized the Section 1603 ITC cash 
grant associated with the new Phase I power plant at the San Emidio.  The loan agreement provides for 
borrowing of up to 90% of the total expected cash grant and consisted of an initial funding of $7.5 million 
which has been received by the Company.  No additional borrowings are expected at this time. The funds 
are drawn from a loan facility that includes commercial terms for the payment of interest and associated 
fees. An application for an $11.7 million ITC cash grant was submitted to the United States Department 
of the Treasury on July 17, 2012.  The cash grant proceeds will be used to repay the Ares Capital bridge 
loan facility, with the remaining balance payable to USG Nevada LLC.  
 
The Phase I repower began construction in the third calendar quarter of 2010 and was delayed in the 
startup due to technical issues related to the new plant.  The Phase II expansion began construction in the 
second calendar quarter of 2011 with commercial operations originally anticipated to commence in the 
fourth calendar quarter of 2013.  Given the delay in getting Phase I online we are not able to accurately 
determine when Phase II will be completed. The Company expects to utilize the cash grant in lieu of the 
Investment Tax Credit in connection with both the repower and the Phase II expansion.  The Phase II 
expansion is still dependent on successful development of additional production well capacity. 
 
The capital cost of the Phase I repower is estimated at approximately $32 million, with Phase II at 
approximately $50 million and Phase III approximately $100 million.  We expect that 75% of the Phase I 
and Phase II development may be funded by project loans, with the remainder funded through equity 
financing. 
 
Phase I achieved mechanical completion in December 2011 and, following performance testing of the 
power plant which began in early May and commercial operation on May 25, 2012.  Commissioning was 
extended due to a series of mechanical issues that include defective capacitors, the mechanical failure of 
the 2,500 horsepower process pump, and excessive vibration in the turbine gear box.  `The EPC 
contractor is providing its services under a fixed price contract that includes financial guarantees for the 
original completion date and power output of the plant. 
 
Phase II began development in the second calendar quarter of 2010 with commercial operations, subject 
to successful production well development and timing related to financing availability for the construction 
of the plant, originally anticipated to commence in the fourth calendar quarter of 2013.  The Company 
anticipated that the project would be granted approximately $16 million for Phase II in ITC cash grant in 
lieu of PTC in connection with the estimated $50 million of capital cost for Phase II development. There 
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is uncertainty at this time if financing will be available to construct the Phase II plant in time to qualify 
for a startup prior to the end of 2013. 
 
On June 1, 2011, an amended and restated PPA was signed with Sierra Pacific Power Company d/b/a NV 
Energy for the sale of up to 19.9 megawatts of electricity on an annual average basis.  The PPA has a 25 
year term with a base price of $89.75 per megawatt-hour, and a 1 % annual escalation rate.  The electrical 
output from both Phase I and Phase II will be sold under the terms of the amended and restated PPA.  The 
PPA was approved by the Public Utility Commission of Nevada on December 27, 2011.  
 
The Company entered into agreements with Science Applications International Corporation (“SAIC”) for a 
project loan and an engineering procurement and construction contract for the San Emidio Phase I power 
plant.  SAIC’s design-build subsidiary, SAIC Energy, Environment & Infrastructure LLC, constructed the 
8.6 net megawatt power plant at San Emidio, Nevada.  TAS Energy of Houston, Texas supplied a modular 
power plant to the project.  The financing agreement calls for the contractor to provide a non-recourse 
project loan for the estimated $32 million dollar project.  The construction loan is expected to be repaid with 
a long term project loan.  
 
Two System Feasibility Studies were initiated in July 2008 with Sierra Pacific Power Company to begin 
the FERC mandated transmission study process for the development of the San Emidio resource.  The 
studies examined two levels of power generation; 15 megawatts and 45 megawatts, several transmission 
routes and the cost associated with each level of generation.  The 15 megawatt study, which was directed 
at providing transmission for the Phase I and Phase II plants, completed the study process and resulted in 
an increase of available transmission to 16 megawatts.  A Small Generator Interconnection Agreement for 
16 megawatts of transmission capacity was executed with Sierra Pacific Power Company on December 
28, 2010.  An additional System Impact Study was initiated on September 8, 2011 for an additional 3.9 
megawatts of transmission to increase the transmission capacity to match the maximum limit of the new 
PPA.  The 3.9 megawatt System Impact Study was completed in April 2012 and is being reviewed by the 
Company. 
 
The 45 megawatt study, which was directed toward the full build out of San Emidio with the addition of 
the 17.2 megawatt Phase III project, completed the second phase System Impact Study in April.  A draft 
Interconnection Facilities Study, the third and final study, was received on November 22, 2010.  The 
remainder of the 45 megawatt study has been terminated due to time constraints and delays with further 
exploration of the project. 
 
On October 30, 2009, the Company was awarded $3.77 million in Recovery Act funding for the 
exploration and development of its San Emidio geothermal power project using advanced geophysical 
exploration techniques.  This award was categorized under the “Innovative Exploration and Drilling 
Projects” section of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act.  The project at San Emidio has 
applied innovative, seismic and satellite imagery techniques along with state-of-the-art structural 
modeling, to locate large aperture fractures that represent high-productivity geothermal drilling targets.  
Two zones along the 4.5 mile long San Emidio fault structure were identified as high quality targets for 
drilling during the first phase of the DOE program. 
 
The second stage of the DOE program is a cost shared drilling plan that follows up on the targets 
identified in the first stage.  In order to meet construction targets for Phase II plant construction, the 
drilling stage of the program commenced prior to DOE approval, and two observation/temperature 
gradient wells were completed by the Company.  The proposed drilling program was approved by the 
DOE in early November 2011.  One of the first two wells was deepened and three additional wells have 
been completed in the South Resource Area under the 50-50 cost share grant. 
 
Three of the five wells exhibit commercial permeability and temperature with well OW-10 producing a 
flowing temperature of 302°F, well OW-9 producing a flowing temperature of 280°F and well OW-6 
producing a flowing temperature of 279°F.  Well OW-9 also has a zone of high permeability at 1,830’ 
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deep, which was put behind casing during drilling operations that has a measured static temperature of 
294°F.  Additional drilling operations would be required to test this zone.  Well OW-8 encountered 320°F 
fluid, but did not produce commercial quantities during flow testing.  The last well drilled, 45A-21 did 
not encounter commercial permeability, but recorded a temperature of 316°F, the highest temperature 
found in the reservoir to date.  A pumped flow test is being planned for well OW-10 before year end.  The 
North Resource Area has an additional five observation/temperature gradient wells and one production 
well planned. 
 
Raft River Update 
Raft River Unit I operated at 98.8% availability and generated an average of 7.89 net megawatts during 
the first fiscal quarter.  For the 2011 calendar year, the plant averaged 7.6 net megawatts of generation 
with 97.3% availability. 
 
The plant operated at reduced output during the quarter due to a mechanical problem with the production 
pump in well RRG-2.  RRG-2 was shut down on April 15, 2012, the pump was replaced in early June 
2012, and it came back on line June 14, 2012. 
 
The $10.2 million DOE cost-shared thermal fracturing program has been delayed while a NEPA 
evaluation was being done to address any potential seismic issues that may result from the program.  The 
Company’s contributions are made in-kind by the use of the RRG-9 well, well field data and monitoring 
support totaling $228,089.  Eight solar powered seismic stations were installed in June 2010 to provide a 
base line of seismic data and will be used to monitor potential impacts from the test.  Construction is 
complete on the injection pipeline that extends from the Unit 1 power plant to well RRG-9.  A detailed, 3-
D magnetotelluric survey was completed during the 3rd fiscal quarter of 2010. 
 
A drill rig for the DOE program was mobilized to the Raft River site in late December 2011 and began 
operations on December 30, 2011.  A 9 7/8” liner was installed and cemented in place in preparation for 
the first phase of stimulation.  The well was side-tracked during operations to remove a packer in the 
wellbore, and a new leg was completed through the geothermal target formation.  A short duration, high 
pressure stimulation test was performed which indicated a temporary increase in permeability.  An 
additional $1.2 million of funding through the DOE has been made available to complete the thermal 
fracturing program.  It is expected that injection into RRG-9 will begin before the end of the year.   
 
On May 16, 2011, Eugene Water and Electric Board notified the Company that the PPA for Raft River 
Unit II has been terminated since a Notice to Proceed had not been issued on or before the required 
milestone date.   
  
Raft River Operating Agreement 
We hold a 50% interest in Raft River Energy I LLC, which owns Raft River Unit I (“Unit I”).  
Construction of Unit I required substantial capital and partnering with a co-venture tax partner allowed us 
to share the risks of ownership and monetize valuable tax credits and benefits.  The joint venture partner 
structure allowed the project to monetize production tax credits which would not otherwise have been 
available to us.  When Unit I generates full capacity of 13 megawatts, we estimate we will receive cash 
payments totaling approximately $1.6 million for each of the first four years of its operations.  While Unit 
I generates at less than full capacity, our annual cash payments from the Raft River I project will be 
lower.  If insufficient cash is generated to satisfy all joint venture obligations, the management fees will 
be deferred. 
 
Initially, Raft River Energy I LLC (“RREI”) was a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and was 
recorded as a fully consolidated subsidiary into the Company’s financial statements.  In 2006, Raft River I 
Holdings (“Holdings”), a subsidiary of the Goldman Sachs Group, acquired an equity interest by 
providing a significant capital investment in RREI under a tax equity structure.  Subsequent accounting 
activity of RREI was reflected under the equity method on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Based on management’s annual review of the conditions and circumstances surrounding the relationship 
between the Company and Holdings, it was determined that the Company would no longer use the equity 
method to reflect the Company’s interest in RREI as of April 1, 2011.  The Company will now fully 
consolidate RREI’s assets, liabilities and operations and recognize a non-controlling interest.  When 
making this determination, Management analyzed whether control had shifted to the Company for 
accounting purposes, and noted that participation by Holdings is passive.  The Board of Managers does 
not hold regular meetings, does not formally approve the annual operating budgets, and Holdings declines 
to contribute additional funds even when benefits can be shown.  The Company has possession of and 
operates the facility, makes all day-to-day operating decisions, and contributes additional required capital 
repair funding as needed. Active participation in the operations of RREI is a primary role of the 
Company’s operating staff. The most critical point that has changed is the economics of the project due to 
the zero balance in the Raft River Holding’s tax capital account.  Tax deductions associated with an 
additional $12.1 million equity contribution from the Company accelerated the exhaustion of the 
Holdings tax capital account to zero sooner than originally anticipated. The Company will be allocated 
100% of the tax deductions and operating losses for the tax year 2011 and subsequent years. Since the 
current structure of RREI was established to allocate significant tax benefits to Holdings, the exhaustion 
of the Holdings tax capital account to zero demonstrates that the majority of the tax benefits have been 
monetized.  Holdings no longer has any tax capital at risk. The Company is the only partner with tax 
capital at risk, so future operating decisions will primarily impact the Company. 
 
The Company’s interests in the RREI as defined in the partnership agreements are summarized as 
follows: 
 
  Years 1 – 4 

(2008-2011) 
Years 5 – 10 
(2012-2017) 

Years 11 – 20 
(2018-2027) 

Years 20 – 25 
(2028-2032) 

Cash Flow 

RECs  70% (1) 

GAAP Income 1% (2) 49% 80% 

Lease Payments, O&M 
Services & Royalties 100% 

Distributions 
Guaranteed 

min. payment 
1% (3) 49% 80% 

Tax Benefits 1% (2) 49% 80% 

  
(1) U.S. Geothermal allocates 70% of income and receives 70% of available cash from RECs sold to third-

parties. After year 10, REC income is shared with Idaho Power Co. For additional details, see U.S. 
Geothermal’s Form 10-Q filed on August 10, 2009 (Exhibit 10.36). 

(2)  Flip to next tier occurs after the later of 10 years or Raft River I Holdings’ target IRR is achieved. 
(3) Flip to next tier occurs after Raft River I Holdings’ target IRR is achieved. 

 
Guatemala 
A geothermal energy rights concession located 14 kilometers southwest of Guatemala City was awarded 
to U.S. Geothermal Guatemala S.A., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in April.  The 
concession contains 24,710 acres (100 square kilometers) in the center of the Aqua and Pacaya twin 
volcano complex. 
 
The concession contains the El Ceibillo geothermal project which has nine existing geothermal wells that 
were drilled in the l990s and have depths ranging from 560 to 2,000 feet (170 to 610 meters).  Six of the 
wells have measured reservoir temperatures in the range of 365°F to 400°F and have high conductive 
gradients that indicate rapidly increasing temperature with depth.  Fluid samples and mineralization from 
the wells indicate the existence of a high permeability reservoir below the existing well field. 
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An office and staff are located in Guatemala City and planning is underway to advance the project with 
initial work focused on negotiating necessary surface and access rights, a power sales agreement with the 
local utility company, strategic investors, and potential project lenders.  Follow up work will include a 
detailed geophysical program, geologic mapping, sampling of hot springs, and to redrill one or two of the 
existing wells to test for deep, high temperature permeability.  Discussions and planning are underway for 
the development of a power purchase agreement.  Also, discussions are taking place with several 
interested parties for the potential sale of a minority equity interest in the El Ceibillo project to a qualified 
local partner. 
 
Gerlach Joint Venture 
The Gerlach Joint Venture, located adjacent to the town of Gerlach in Washoe County, Nevada is made 
up of both private and BLM geothermal leases.  The Peregrine well, a historic exploration slim hole that 
encountered a lost circulation zone at a depth of 975 feet, was redrilled and the hole was opened from a 
6.5 inch diameter well to a 12.5 inch diameter well.  Lost circulation was confirmed with three zones 
through the 900 to 1,024 foot interval.  The well was stopped at 1,070 feet total depth.  Temperature 
surveys and a short clean out flow test were conducted on the well.  The well flowed at an estimated 300-
400 gallons per minute and the flowing temperature was 208°F.  Geochemistry indicates an average 
potential source temperature of 374°F for the Gerlach site. 
 
Drilling commenced on observation well 18-10a on October 30.  The upper section of the well was drilled 
to 826 feet deep and an 8 inch liner was cemented in place.  The well was secured and the drill rig was 
moved back to San Emidio.  Temperature measurements in the well have provided the highest measured 
temperature in the field to date at 268°F within 160’ of surface and a temperature gradient of 6.4°F per 
100’ in the bottom section of the hole.  There are two previously identified lost circulation targets at 
1,600’ and 2,800’ deep that will be targeted when drilling is resumed. 
 
Drilling resumed on well 18-10a on April 14, 2012 and was stopped on April 18, 2012 at 1,943 feet deep.  
Circulation was lost in minor zones at 1,530 and 1,595 feet deep.  Subsequent temperature surveys 
indicate an isothermal temperature profile at 241°F which may indicate that higher temperature fluid does 
not occur below the 18-10a well site. 
 
Granite Creek  
The Granite Creek assets are located about 6 miles north of Gerlach, Nevada along a geologic structure 
known to host geothermal features including the Great Boiling Spring and the Fly Ranch Geyser.  A first 
stage gravity geophysical program was completed in the third quarter of 2008 and will be used to evaluate 
the resource potential, and help determine where to drill temperature-gradient exploration wells. 
 
After a detailed review of the geologic setting, the lease position at Granite Creek was reduced to 2,443.7 
acres (3.8 square miles).  One full lease and portions of the two remaining leases were relinquished to the 
Bureau of Land Management. 
 
 
Operating Results  
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company reported a net loss attributable to the Company 
of $930,870 ($0.01 loss per share) which represented a $1.4 million favorable decrease from the net loss 
reported in the same period in 2011 ($0.03 loss per share).  Notable favorable variances were reported in 
the net gain from plant operations, salaries and wages, stock based compensation and professional fees.  
A notable unfavorable variance was noted for other operating expenses.   
 
 
Plant Operations and Other Plant Expenses  
During the first fiscal quarter of 2012, the Company’s operating revenues from energy production and 
related operating costs originated from two power plants.  The San Emidio plant (USG Nevada LLC) is 
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located in the San Emidio Desert in the North Western part of the State of Nevada.  The original San 
Emidio plant and related water rights were purchased in 2008.  The old plant ceased operations in 
December 2011 and was replaced with a new plant that began commercial operations on May 25, 2012.  
The Raft River plant (Raft River Energy I LLC) is located in the South Eastern Idaho.  The Raft River 
plant began operations in January of 2008. 
 
San Emidio, Nevada Plant Energy Sales and Plant Operating Expenses (USG Nevada LLC)  
 
The energy and energy credit sales generated from the San Emidio power plant represented 33.4% and 
47.4% of total plant operating revenues for the Company for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011; respectively. 
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the San Emidio plant reported net operating loss of $8,693 
which was a favorable decrease from the loss of $24,186 reported in the same period in 2011.  On 
December 12, 2011, the old power plant was shut down to facilitate the change to the new power plant.  
Since the new plant began commercial operations on May 25, 2012, the current period’s financial results 
do not reflect the new plant’s normal operations.  All of the energy produced in May was paid at the 
lower test rate of $0.05 per kilowatt hour.  The energy produced by the new plant in June 2012 amounted 
to 3,790,652 kilowatt hours.  For the calendar year 2011 (excluding December), the average monthly 
kilowatt hours produced by the old plant was 1,727,847.  The plant’s salary and related costs for the three 
months ended June 30, 2012 were 74.1% less than the costs incurred in the same period ended in 2011.  
During the first fiscal quarter of 2012, many of the employees were engaged in construction and 
development activities that were capitalized.  As the plant transitions to normal operations, the 
employee’s compensation costs will be charged to the plant’s operations.  The old plant’s salary and 
related costs averaged $211,531 per quarter in the calendar year ended December 31, 2011.  The 
operational salary costs for the new plant are expected to be similar to the old plant. 
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Summarized statements of operations for the San Emidio, Nevada plant are as follows: 
 
 Three Months Ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 

 
Variance 

 $ %*  $ %* $ %** 
         

Plant operating revenues:         
 Energy sales 427,931 100.0  623,731 94.2 (195,800) (31.4) 
 Energy credit sales - -  38,339 5.8 (38,339) (100.0) 

 427,931 100.0  662,070 100.0 (234,139) (35.4) 
        

Plant operating expenses:        
 General and administrative 60,722 14.1  72,461 10.9 11,739 16.2 
 Salaries and related costs 65,004 15.2  251,217 37.9 186,213 74.1 
 Repairs and maintenance 5,927 1.4  11,482 1.7 5,555 48.4 
 Field and well expenses 53,948 12.6  83,808 12.7 29,860 35.6 
 Rent and lease - -  2,805 0.4 2,805 100.0 
 Purchased utilities  65,719 15.4  13,638 2.1 (52,081) (381.9) 
 251,320 58.7  435,411 65.8 184,091 42.3 
        

  Net gain from plant 
operations 176,611 41.3  226,659 34.2 (50,048) (22.1)

        

Other operating costs:        
 Depreciation and amortization 181,333 42.4  246,038 37.2 64,705 26.3
 General and administrative 4,026 0.9  4,807 0.7 781 16.2
 185,359 43.3  250,845 37.9 65,486 28.0
         

  Operating loss (8,748) (2.0)  (24,186) (3.7) 15,438 63.8
        

Other income 55 0.0  - - 55 - 
        

  Net Loss (8,693) (2.0)  (24,186) (3.7) 15,493 64.1
      
 %* - represents the percentage of total plant operating revenues. 

 %** - represents the percentage of change from 2011 to 2012. 
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Key quarterly production data for the San Emidio, Nevada plant is summarized as follows: 
 

Quarter Ended:  

Kilowatt 
Hours x 

1,000 

 

Energy 
Sales 
($)  

Ave. 
Rate per 
Kilowatt-
Hour ($)  

Net  
Operating 

Income 
(Loss) 

($)  

Depreciation 
& 

Amortization 
($) 

    

June 30, 2010  5,449 571,646  0.1049 (76,625) 238,087 
September 30, 2010  5,260 636,992  0.1210 (405) 298,948 
December 31, 2010  5,938 629,867  0.1061 (104,155) 298,948 
March 31, 2011  5,656 600,702  0.1062 (61,083) 299,010 
June 30, 2011  5,556 623,731  0.1123 (16,818) 246,038 
September 30, 2011  4,943 629,582  0.1274 45,877 210,366 
December 31, 2011 (1)  3,291 361,876  0.1100 (433,861) 206,522 
March 31, 2012 (1)  - -  - (475,961) 189,126 
June 30, 2012 (2)  5,465 427,931  0.0776 (8,748) 181,333 

  

 (1) - The old power plant ceased operations on December 12, 2011, to facilitate the transfer of 
operations to the new power plant. 

 (2) - The new power plant became commercially operational on May 25, 2012.  The plant produced 
power at a lower “test rate” in May and at the regular rate of .08975 per kilowatt hour in 
June. 

 
Raft River, Idaho Energy Sales and Plant Operating Expenses (Raft River Energy I LLC)  
 
The energy and energy credit sales generated from the Raft River power plant represented 66.6% and 
52.6% of total plant operating revenues for the Company for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011; respectively. 
 
Net loss from Raft River Energy I LLC (“RREI”) operations of $805,285 for the three months ended June 
30, 2012, decreased $1,169,677 (59.2%) from the same period in 2011.  In May 2011, the repairs of wells 
RRG-2 and RRG-7 began under the Repair Service Agreement (“RSA”) between the two members.  The 
repairs under the RSA amounted to $818,149 for the three months ended June 30, 2011.  Repairs on 
RRG-7 were completed in July 2011 and repairs on RRG-2 were completed in January 2012.  Primarily 
due to the repairs, energy production increased 17.5% for the three months ended June 30, 2012 from the 
same period in 2011.  The monthly kilowatt hours produced increased 13.1% for the three months ended 
June 30, 2012 from the same period in 2011. 
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The summarized statements of operations for RREI are as follows: 
 
 Three Months Ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 

 
Variance 

 $ %*  $ %* $ %** 
         

Plant operating revenues:         
 Energy sales 765,255 89.7  651,059 88.5 114,196 17.5 
 Energy credit sales 87,763 10.3  84,846 11.5 2,917 3.4 

 853,018 100.0  735,905 100.0 117,113 15.9 
        

Plant operating expenses:        
 General and administrative 129,353 15.1  123,515 16.8 (5,838) (4.7) 
 Salaries and related costs 233,513 27.4  203,550 27.7 (29,963) (14.7) 
 Plant and well field  223,955 26.3  184,273 25.0 (39,682) (21.5) 
 Rent and lease 43,700 5.1  43,700 5.9 - - 
 Repairs and maintenance 354,126 41.5  662,557 90.0 308,431 46.6 
 Repairs and maintenance under

the repairs agreement - -  818,149 111.2 818,149 100.0 
 Utilities  93,001 10.9  128,586 17.5 35,585 27.7 
 1,077,648 126.3  2,164,330 294.1 1,086,682 50.2 
        

  Net loss from plant 
operations (224,630) (26.3)  (1,428,425) (194.1) 1,203,795 (84.3)

        

Other operating costs:        
 Depreciation and amortization 507,783 59.5  510,367 69.3 2,584 0.5
 Office and administrative 72,949 8.6  36,472 5.0 (36,477) 100.0
 580,732 68.1  546,839 74.3 (33,893) (6.2)
         

  Operating loss (805,362) (94.4)  (1,975,264) (268.4) 1,169,902 59.2
        

Other income 77 0.0  302 0.0 (225) (74.5)
        

  Net Loss (805,285) (94.4)  (1,974,962) (268.4) 1,169,677 59.2
      
 %* - represents the percentage of total plant operating revenues. 

 %** - represents the percentage of change from 2011 to 2012. 
 

 The intercompany elimination adjustments for interest expense, management fees and lease costs
are not incorporated into the presentation of the subsidiary’s operations. 
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Key quarterly production data for RREI is summarized as follows:   
  

Quarter Ended:  
Kilo-watt 

Hours x 1,000 

 

Energy Sales 
($) 

 
 

Renewable 
Energy  

Credit Sales 
($) 

 
 

Net Income 
(Loss)* 

($) 
     

June 30, 2010   17,599 806,439 114,394 (584,204) 
September 30, 2010   16,116 1,019,499 104,733 (123,032) 
December 31, 2010  17,878 1,173,232 113,090 (13,931) 
March 31, 2011  16,898 914,457 101,382 321,507 
June 30, 2011  14,144 689,448 84,846 (1,986,673) 
September 30, 2011  14,562 979,747 87,432 (489,768) 
December 31, 2011  17,888 1,197,713 104,222 (965,553) 
March 31, 2012  19,639 1,057,091 108,119 (696,689) 
June 30, 2012  15,999 805,322 87,763 (805,285) 
      
 * - Net income (loss) does not include intercompany elimination adjustments for interest expense, 

management fees and lease costs. 
 
 
Professional and Management Fees 
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company incurred professional and management fees of 
$263,538, which was a decrease of $1,005,291 (79.2%) from the same period in 2011.  The decrease was, 
primarily, due to the fees of $1,088,091 paid to a placement agent in the quarter ended June 30, 2011 for 
obtaining the equity partner in the Neal Hot Springs, Oregon project.  
 
 
Salaries and Wages 
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company reported $313,017 in salaries and related costs, 
which was a decrease of $286,019 (47.7%) from the same period in 2011.  During both quarters, 
significant portions the management and development compensation costs were allocated to the 
Company’s capital projects.  Allocations have been made for the Neal Hot Springs project for engineering, 
design, permitting and project management efforts needed for well drilling, reservoir evaluation and plant 
construction.  At San Emidio, salary cost allocations have been made for efforts primarily related to the new 
power plant construction management for Phase I of the project.  The primary difference in reported 
compensation costs related to the Company bonus that totaled $450,000 incurred in the three months 
ended June 30, 2011.   
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Significant management and development employee salaries and related costs allocated to major U.S. 
Geothermal projects are summarized as follows: 
 
  For the Three Months Ended June 30, 
  2012  2011  Variance 

Financial Element  $  $  $ % 
        
Total Company salary and related, 

excluding plant operations  648,281  963,975  315,694 32.8 
        
Salary and related costs capitalized for the 

following projects:        
USG Nevada LLC (San Emidio Phase 

I Project)  (201,991)  (144,017)  57,974 40.3 
USG Oregon LLC (Neal Hot Springs 

Project)  (131,905)  (220,239)  (88,334) (40.1) 
 Small projects  (1,368)  (683)  685 100.3 
  313,017  599,036  286,019 47.7 
        
 % - represents the percentage of change from 2011 to 2012. 

 
 
Stock Based Compensation  
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company reported $162,975 in stock based compensation, 
which was a decrease of $371,923 (69.5%) from the same period in 2011.  The variance was primarily a 
function of the timing of the issuance of the stock option grants.  Stock options have not been granted for 
the current fiscal year.  The Board of Directors approved a grant of 2,590,000 stock options to employees 
on June 3, 2011 that impacted the three months ended June 30, 2011.     
 
 
Other Operating Expenses  
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company reported $119,998 in other operating expenses, 
which was an increase of $85,254 (245.4%) from the same period in 2011.  During the first fiscal quarter 
of 2012, the Company incurred test well drilling costs of $70,000 at Gerlach, Nevada (USG Gerlach 
LLC).  As the new plants at Neal Hot Springs, Oregon (USG Oregon LLC) are preparing for operation, 
purchases of approximately $25,000 were made for parts, small tools and other plant supplies.   
 
 
Net Loss Attributable to the Non-Controlling Interest  
The net loss attributable to the non-controlling interest entities is the line item that removes the portion of 
the Company’s consolidated operations that are owned by the Company’s subsidiaries.  For the three 
months ended June 30, 2012, the Company reported $896,287 in net loss attributable to non-controlling 
interest, which was a decrease of $1,133,739 (55.8%) from the same period ended 2011.  The primary 
reason for the decrease was due to the operations of Raft River Energy I LLC (“RREI”).  The impact of the 
operations RREI in the Company’s financial statements on the loss attributable to non-controlling entities 
amounted to a $1,167,560 decrease from the three months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the three 
months ended June 30, 2012.  As noted above, RREI’s loss for the three months ended June 30, 2011 related 
to its major repair activities.   
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
As of June 30, 2012, the Company does not have any off balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
We believe our cash and liquid investments at June 30, 2012 are adequate to fund our general operating 
activities through December 31, 2012 including drilling at Neal Hot Springs, general development 
support activities at San Emidio and repair activities at Raft River.  Other project development, such as 
Guatemala, may require additional funding.  In addition to government loans and grants discussed below, 
we anticipate that additional funding may be raised through financial and strategic partnerships, market 
loans, the issuance of equity and/or through the sale of ownership interest in tax credits and benefits.  
 
The current financial credit crisis is not anticipated to impact the ability of our customers, Idaho Power 
Company and Sierra Pacific Power, to pay for their power.  This power is sold under long-term contracts 
at fixed prices to large utilities. The current status of the credit and equity markets could delay our project 
development activities while the Company seeks to obtain economic credit terms or a favorable equity 
market price to further the drilling and construction activities.  The Company continues discussions with 
potential investors to evaluate alternatives for funding at the corporate and project levels. 
 
For projects under construction before the end of 2010 and online before the end of 2013, a project can 
elect to take a 30% investment tax credit (“ITC”) in lieu of the production tax credit (“PTC”).  The ITC 
may be converted into a cash grant within the first 60 days of operation of the plant.  Phase I at San 
Emidio attained commercial operation on May 25, 2012.  An application was submitted in July 2012 
electing to take the ITC cash grant in lieu of the PTC, which will result in a check from the U.S. Treasury 
for approximately $11.7 million by September 2012 and will be used to retire an existing bridge loan of 
approximately $7.5 million. 
 
On May 21, 2012, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with 
Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (“LPC”), pursuant to which the Company has the right to sell to LPC up 
to $10,750,000 in shares of the Company’s common stock, (“Common Stock”), subject to certain 
limitations and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement and imposed by the Company’s board of 
directors and pricing committee thereof. 
  
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement LPC initially purchased $750,000 in shares of Common Stock at 
$0.38 per share.  Thereafter, on any business day and as often as every other business day over the 36-
month term of the Purchase Agreement, and up to an aggregate amount of an additional $10,000,000 
(subject to certain limitations) in shares of Common Stock, the Company has the right, from time to time, 
at its sole discretion and subject to certain conditions to direct LPC to purchase up to 250,000 shares of 
Common Stock, which amount may be increased in accordance with the Purchase Agreement if the 
closing sale price of Common Stock on the NYSE MKT LLC exceeds certain specified levels.  The 
purchase price of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Purchase Agreement will be based on 
prevailing market prices of Common Stock at the time of sales without any fixed discount, and the 
Company will control the timing and amount of any sales of Common Stock to LPC.  No sales of 
Common Stock under the Purchase Agreement will be made through the Toronto Stock Exchange. 
 
The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and agreements of the Company 
and LPC, limitations and conditions to completing future sale transactions, indemnification rights and 
other obligations of the parties.  There is no upper limit on the price per share that LPC could be obligated 
to pay for Common Stock under the Purchase Agreement.  LPC shall not have the right or the obligation 
to purchase any shares of Common Stock if the purchase price of those shares, determined as set forth in 
the Purchase Agreement, would be below $0.25 per share.  The Company has the right to terminate the 
Purchase Agreement at any time, at no cost or penalty.  Actual sales of shares of Common Stock to LPC 



 

 
-52- 

under the Purchase Agreement will depend on a variety of factors to be determined by the Company from 
time to time, including (among others) market conditions, the trading price of the Common Stock and 
determinations by the Company as to available and appropriate sources of funding for the Company and 
its operations.  As consideration for entering into the Purchase Agreement, the Company has issued to 
LPC 651,819 shares of Common Stock.  The Company will not receive any cash proceeds from the 
issuance of these 651,819 shares. 
 
As of June 30, 2012, the Company has sold LPC an aggregate of 3,375,503 shares of common stock 
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement for net proceeds of approximately $999,425.  
 
The Company has also entered into an agreement with Kuhns Brothers Securities Corporation (“KBSC”), 
pursuant to which KBSC agreed to act as the placement agent in connection with the sale of shares of 
Common Stock to LPC.  Subject to the Company’s and KBSC’s receipt of written confirmation that the 
Corporate Finance Department of Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) has 
determined not to raise any objection with respect to the fairness or reasonableness of the compensation 
terms of the Company’s arrangement with KBSC, the Company will pay KBSC the following 
compensation for its services in acting as placement agent in the sale of Common Stock to LPC: (A) the 
Company will pay a cash fee to KBSC in an amount equal to: (i) 6% of the aggregate gross proceeds 
received by the Company from the initial sale of $750,000 in shares of Common Stock to LPC pursuant 
to the Purchase Agreement, and (ii) 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the Company from 
additional sales of Common Stock to LPC pursuant to the Purchase Agreement; and (B) the Company 
will issue to KBSC the number of warrants (the “Compensation Warrants”) equal to: (i) in the case of the 
initial sale of $750,000 in shares of Common Stock to LPC, 6% of the aggregate number of shares sold to 
LPC; and (ii) in the case of additional sales of Common Stock to LPC, 3% of the aggregate gross 
proceeds received by the Company from such sales divided by 115% of the closing sale price of one share 
of Common Stock on the day prior to the respective issuance of the Compensation Warrant.  The 
Compensation Warrants issued pursuant to clause (ii) in the preceding sentence will be based on 
incremental sales to LPC of $2 million in aggregate gross proceeds.  Each Compensation Warrant will 
have an exercise price equal to 115% of the closing sale price of one share of Common Stock on the day 
prior to its issuance, a term of five years from the date of its issuance and will otherwise comply with the 
rules of FINRA. 
 
On November 9, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, USG Nevada LLC, and entered into a 
bridge loan agreement with Ares Capital Corporation.  The bridge loan monetized the Section 1603 ITC 
cash grant associated with the new Phase I power plant at San Emidio.  The loan agreement provides for 
borrowing up to 90% of the total expected cash grant and consisted of an initial funding of $7.5 million 
which has been received by the Company.  No additional borrowings are expected at this time.  An 
application for an $11.7 million ITC cash grant was submitted to the United States Department of the 
Treasury on July 17, 2012.  The funds are drawn from a loan facility that includes commercial terms for 
the payment of interest and associated fees.  The cash grant proceeds will be used to repay the Ares 
Capital bridge loan facility, with the remaining balance payable to USG Nevada LLC.  
 
On September 30, 2011, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “Sales 
Agreement”) with McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak LLC (“MLV”), pursuant to which the Company, from time to 
time, was entitled to issue and sell through MLV, acting as the Company’s sales agent, shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock.  The Company’s board of directors authorized the issuance and sale of shares 
of the Company’s Common Stock under the Sales Agreement for aggregate gross sales proceeds of up to 
$10,000,000, subject to certain limitations based on the sales price per share, for a period of one year from 
the date of execution of the Sales Agreement.  Pursuant to the Sales Agreement, MLV was entitled to 
compensation at a fixed commission rate of the greater of (i) 3% of the gross sales price per share sold or 
(ii)(1) $0.03 per share sold if the sale price per share was $0.80 or greater or (2) $0.0225 per share sold if 
the sale price per share is less than $0.80 (but in no event would compensation exceed 8% of gross 
proceeds).  The Company has agreed to reimburse a portion of MLV’s expenses in connection with the 
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offering of the Company’s Common Stock under the Sales Agreement.  The Company terminated the 
Sales Agreement effective May 19, 2012. 
 
Prior to such termination, the Company sold 241,989 shares of common stock pursuant to the Sales 
Agreement for net proceeds of approximately $126,133.  Such sales of shares of our Common stock by 
our sales agent were made in privately negotiated transactions or in any method permitted by law deemed 
to be an “At The Market” offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended, at negotiated prices, at prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices related to such 
prevailing market prices, including sales made directly on the NYSE MKT LLC or sales made through a 
market maker other than on an exchange.  Our sales agent has made all sales using commercially 
reasonable efforts consistent with its normal sales and trading practices on mutually agreed upon terms 
between our sales agent and us. 
 
On March 7, 2011, the Company closed a direct registered placement of 5,000,000 shares of Common 
Stock at a price of $1.00 per share for gross proceeds of $5 million.  Each investor also received a 
Common Stock Purchase Warrant exercisable for 50% of number of shares of Common Stock purchased.  
Each Warrant entitled the holder to purchase one additional share of Common Stock for $1.075 per share.  
The Warrants expired on March 3, 2012.  The offering included a placement agent fee of 112,000 
Common Shares and 56,000 Warrants plus expenses of approximately $15,000.  The securities were 
offered by the Company pursuant to a registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”), which became effective on December 31, 2010.  A prospectus supplement relating 
to the offering was filed with the SEC on February 28, 2010.  After deducting for fees and expenses, the 
net proceeds of the offering were approximately $4.95 million.  The net proceeds of the offering were 
used for general working capital, including exploration, development and expansion of the Company’s 
geothermal properties. 
 
On February 24, 2011, the Company completed the financial closing with the U.S. Department of Energy 
(“DOE”) of a $96.8-million loan guarantee to construct the Company’s planned 22-megawatt-net power 
plant at Neal Hot Springs in Eastern Oregon. Neal Hot Springs is the first geothermal project to complete 
a loan guarantee under DOE’s Title XVII loan guarantee program, which was created by the Energy 
Policy Act of 2005 to support the deployment of innovative clean energy technologies.  The DOE loan 
guarantee will guarantee a loan from the U.S. Treasury’s Federal Financing Bank.  The $96.8-million 
Federal Financing Bank loan represents 67% of total project cost.  When combined with the previously 
announced equity investments by the project’s partner, Enbridge Inc., the loan provides 100% of the 
anticipated capital remaining to fully construct the project. 
 
In September 2010, Oregon USG Holdings, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary) entered into agreements with 
Enbridge (U.S.) Inc. that formed a strategic and financial partnership to finance the Neal Hot Springs project 
located in eastern Oregon.  A component of these agreements included a $5 million convertible 
promissory note.  Upon conversion, the note was considered to be an equity contribution to the 
Company’s subsidiary.  The conversion occurred automatically upon the closing of the Department of 
Energy (“DOE”) guaranteed project loan.  The agreements also provided for additional equity 
contributions of $13.8 million from Enbridge that when combined with the $5 million convertible 
promissory note earned Enbridge a 20% direct ownership in the subsidiary.  As a result of cost overruns 
for the project, and at the election of the Company, an additional payment obligation of up to $8 million 
was contributed by Enbridge that increased their direct ownership, in the project by 1.5 percentage points 
for each $1 million contributed.  Added to their base 20% ownership, additional payments increased 
Enbridge’s ownership to 27.5%.  An additional $6 million cost overrun facility was established by 
Enbridge to cover costs that resulted from unexpected poor results from injection well drilling.  The 
additional investment by Enbridge will increase their ownership in USG Oregon LLC based on running a 
project financial model and determining what percentage of the forecasted project income will be 
allocated to Enbridge to arrive at a predetermined rate of return for the additional investment.  Current 
estimates of the ownership assuming that all of the investment is used for drilling shows that Enbridge 
could own up to 44% of the subsidiary.  The model will be rerun after all of the variables have been fixed 
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which is anticipated to be in the 4th quarter of 2012 to set the final ownership ratios between the two 
parties. 
 
In August 2010, USG Nevada LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary) entered into agreements with Benham 
Companies, LLC (subsidiary of Science Applications International Corporation) for the initial project 
loan needed to construct the 8.6 net megawatt power plant for Phase I of the San Emidio project in 
northwest Nevada.  
 
 
Potential Acquisitions  
 
The Company intends to continue its growth through the acquisition of ownership or leasehold interests in 
properties and/or property rights that it believes will add to the value of the Company’s geothermal 
resources, and through possible mergers with or acquisitions of operating power plants and geothermal or 
other renewable energy properties. 
 
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon the 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  The preparation of these financial statements requires 
us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Certain accounting policies involve 
judgments and uncertainties to such an extent that there is reasonable likelihood that materially different 
amounts could have been reported under different conditions, or if different assumptions had been made.  
We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on a regular basis.  We base our estimates on historical 
experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis for the financial statements.  
 
See Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the financial statements and related footnotes included in 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012, for a description of our critical 
accounting policies. 
 
 
Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
 
Interest Risk on Investments  
At June 30, 2012, the Company held investments of $328,689 in money market accounts.  These are 
highly liquid investments that are subject to risks associated with changes in interest rates.  The money 
market funds are invested in governmental obligations with minimal fluctuations in interest rates and 
fixed terms. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk  
The Company is subject to a limited amount of foreign currency risks associated with cash deposits 
maintained in Canadian currency.  The Company has utilized and it is continuing to utilize the Canadian 
markets for raising capital.  By proper timing of the transactions and then maintenance of adequate 
operating funds in other financial resources, the Company has been able to mitigate some of the risks 
surrounding foreign currency exchanges.  At the quarter ended June 30, 2012, the Company held deposits 
that amounted to less than $10,000 in U.S. dollar equivalents.  As a matter of standard operating practice, 
the Company does not maintain large balances of Canadian currency, and substantially all operating 
transactions are conducted in U.S. dollars. 
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Prior to April 1, 2007, the strike price for the Company’s stock option plan had been stated in Canadian 
dollars as the plan had been administered through our Vancouver office and Pacific Corporate Trust 
Company.  This subjected the Company to foreign currency risk in addition to the normal market risks 
associated with the stock price fluctuations.  A long-term liability had been established to reflect the fair 
value of the stock options payable.  The strike price on subsequent option grants is stated in U.S. dollars.  
 
Commodity Price Risk  
The Company is exposed to risks surrounding the volatility of energy prices.  These risks are impacted by 
various circumstances surrounding the energy production from natural gas, nuclear, hydro, solar, coal and 
oil.  The Company has been able to mitigate, to a certain extent, this risk by signing a power purchase 
contract for a 25 year period for the first power plant scheduled to go into production.  This type of 
arrangement will be the model for power purchase contracts planned for future power plants. 
 
Item 4 - Controls and Procedures 
 
An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness 
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report.  Based on that 
evaluation, our management, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective at the end of this period covered by this report to ensure that information we are 
required to disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, and was 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

 
There has been no change to our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 
30, 2012 that has materially affected, or is likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting.  



 

 
-56- 

PART II- OTHER INFORMATION 
 

Item 1 - Legal Proceedings 
 
None. 
 
 
Item 1A - Risk Factors 
 
See “Risk Factors” in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012 and in our 
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012.  There have been no material changes 
in the risk factors during the quarter ended June 30, 2012. 
 
 
Item 2 - Unregistered Sales Of Equity Securities And Use Of Proceeds 
 
None. 
 
 
Item 3 – Defaults Upon Senior Securities 
 
None. 
 
 
Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Item 5 - Other Information  
 
None. 
 
 
Item 6 - Exhibits  
 
See the exhibit index to this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. 
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SIGNATURES 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
 (Registrant) 
 
Date: August 14, 2012 By: /s/ Daniel J. Kunz 
 Daniel J. Kunz 
 Chief Executive Officer 
 
Date: August 14, 2012 
 By: /s/ Kerry D. Hawkley 
 Kerry D. Hawkley 
 Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 
 

Exhibit 
Number 

Description 

4.1 Form of Compensation Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 
8-K as filed on May 22, 2012) 

10.1 
Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 21, 2012, by and between U.S. Geothermal Inc. and 
Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Form 8-K as filed on May 22, 2012) 

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 

101.INS XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 



 

 

Exhibit 31.1 
 

U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
 
I, Daniel J. Kunz, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of U.S. Geothermal Inc.; 
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact 

or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 

report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 
4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 

disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) 
for the Registrant and have: 

 
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 

procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 

in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as 
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d. disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 

occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in 
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 

internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 



 

 

 
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 

significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
 
 
Date: August 14, 2012 
 
/s/ Daniel J. Kunz 
Daniel J. Kunz 
Chief Executive Officer 

 



 

 

Exhibit 31.2 
 

U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
 
I, Kerry D. Hawkley, certify that: 
 

1.   I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of U.S. Geothermal Inc.; 
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 

report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 
4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 

disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) 
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

 
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 

procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information 
relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 
prepared; 

 
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control 

over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

 
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and 

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

 
d. disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial 

reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s 
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

 
5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent 

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit 
committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 



 

 

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal 
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who 

have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
Date: August 14, 2012 
 
 
/s/ Kerry D. Hawkley 
Kerry D. Hawkley 
Chief Financial Officer 

 



 

 

Exhibit 32.1 
 

U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
 

CERTIFICATION  
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly report of U.S. Geothermal Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the 
period ended June 30, 2012, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 
(the “Report”), I, Daniel J. Kunz, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my 
knowledge: 
 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 

condition and results of operations of the Registrant. 
 
 
 
Date:  August 14, 2012 
 
 
/s/ Daniel J. Kunz________________________ 
Daniel J. Kunz 
Chief Executive Officer 



 

 

Exhibit 32.2 
 

U.S. GEOTHERMAL INC. 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly report of U.S. Geothermal Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the 
period ended June 30, 2012, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 
(the “Report”), I, Kerry D. Hawkley, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant certify pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my 
knowledge: 
 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 

condition and results of operations of the Registrant. 
 
 
 
Date:  August 14, 2012 
 
 
/s/ Kerry D. Hawkley 
Kerry D. Hawkley 
Chief Financial Officer 
 


